
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 
12 June 2018 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Kilkie
Assistant Director (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2017-18 (Pages 9 - 50)

6. Audit External Quality Assessment (Pages 51 - 90)

7. Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18 (Pages 91 - 
106)

To seek approval from Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of 
the Annual Governance Statement for the 2017-18 financial year. 

8. Annual Treasury Management Review 2017-18 (Pages 107 - 
118)

Public Document Pack



9. Letter to Those Charged with Governance (Pages 119 - 
132)

10.Audit Fee Letter 2018-19 (Pages 133 - 
140)

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

12.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Cllr Karen Hurdle (Chair)
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Lesley Boycott
John Burden
Leslie Hills
William Lambert
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Peter Rayner
Lenny Rolles

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee 

Tuesday, 13 March 2018                                  7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Karen Hurdle (Chair) 
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)        

Cllrs: Lesley Boycott 
John Burden
Colin Caller 
Leslie Hills 
William Lambert 
Peter Rayner 
Lenny Rolles 

Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
James Larkin Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit 

Executive) 
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Darren Wells   External Auditor, Grant Thornton  
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

46. Apologies for absence 

No apologies of absence were received. 

47. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Monday, 19 February 2018 were signed by the Chair.

48. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were declared. 

49. Order of the Agenda 

It was agreed by the Chair that the item ‘2016/17 External Audit Grant Certification Letter’ 
would be taken as the first item on the agenda. 

50. 2016/17 External Audit Grant Certification Letter 

Members were provided with a summary of the external audit findings and issues arising 
from Grant Claim certification work completed by Grant Thornton relating to 2016-17.

Grant Thornton, as the council’s auditor, were required to certify certain claims and returns 
submitted by the Council. The letter attached at appendix two summarises the overall 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 13.03.2018

2

findings of grant certification work completed for 2016-17. Grant Thornton was required to 
certify the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim for the year relating to expenditure of £34.5 million.

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton advised that the errors found within the audit of 
Gravesham have always been consistently relatively low and are not significant; the 
Department of Work and Pensions requires a very high level of scrutiny which is why 
discrepancies of ‘single pounds’ have been listed. 

Cllr Burden wanted thanks to be noted and given to the Housing Benefits and Finance 
Teams for their professional management of such a large account. 

Members noted the findings and conclusions of the grant certification work undertaken 
relating to 2016-17. 

51. Review of Accounting Policies 2017-18 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) sought Member endorsement of the Accounting 
Policies to be used in formulating the Financial Statements for the authority for the financial 
year 2017-18. Members were also advised on the earlier closedown requirements that will 
be effective from the 2017-18 financial year (i.e. for the accounts prepared for the year 
ended 31 March 2018). 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) stated that the Accounts & Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015 requires local authorities to prepare their annual financial statement of 
accounts in accordance with ‘proper accounting practice’; it is not statutory but CIPFA highly 
recommend that the accounting policies to be used to prepare the authority’s financial 
statements are taken through an authority’s appropriate Finance Committee. 

It was explained that the Code for 2017-18 had been published and a review of the Council’s 
accounting policies had been conducted to ensure that they were in line with the 
requirements of the Code. There were no major changes identified to the Code or any that 
would affect  the council’s accounting policies for 2017-18 however the wording of the three 
policies listed on page 14 have been reviewed to provider greater clarification on how they 
are practically applied, in part following comments made by the external auditor last year. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that there has been a departure from 
previous years with regard to the requirements on closing the accounts earlier; effective from 
the 2017-18 financial year, the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 specify the 
requirement to accelerate this process so that the draft annual statement of accounts are 
produced by 31st May and audited, approved and published by 31st July following the end of 
the financial year.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) explained that in preparation of the change, the 
council brought forward the timetable for the production of the draft statement of accounts for 
2016-17 with a draft statement of accounts being prepared by 19 May 2017, allowing time 
for quality assurance processes to take place between the 19 and 31 May 2017. It would 
mean that Members would not be given the chance to view the draft statement of account 
before it went to the external auditors, however the final audited version would be taken to 
the July Committee to be signed off by Members. 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 13.03.2018

3

Following a concern from a Member regarding transactions under £85K being considered 
trivial, the Assistant Director explained that the external auditors do not consider anything 
below £85K to be significant when compared to the size of the account.  Any errors or 
misstatements found below this level will not be reported to the Finance & Audit Committee.
Following a lengthy discussion on Members being able to view the draft statement of 
accounts before signing off the final version, the Assistant Director assured the Committee 
that the draft statement is published online for them all to view and a few dates in June 
would be looked into to see if an additional session could be held for Members to discuss 
and feedback their observations to officers. 

Members endorsed the use of the Accounting Policies as outlined at Appendix Two to this 
report, subject to further comments from the Council’s external auditor. 

52. Review of the Statement of Accounts Glossary of Terms 

Members were provided with an update on the review of the Glossary of Terms and which 
currently forms part of the Council’s Financial Statement. 

A small working group (comprising Cllr Hurdle, Cllr Theobald, Cllr Caller, Cllr Rayner, Simon 
Cogger [Exchequer Manager] and Alexie Leech [Corporate Performance Administrative 
Assistant]) was established to review the current Glossary of Terms and make appropriate 
improvements where necessary.

The working group met on a number of occasions with the objectives of firstly ensuring that 
the definitions already part of the Glossary were clearly explained and secondly to go 
through the Council’s Financial Statement for 2016/2017 ensuring that any accounting or 
other technical term that was not currently defined in the Glossary was incorporated into the 
revised version.

The Group as a whole then worked on the definitions until all the Members within the Group 
were satisfied that the revised Glossary was complete and contained definitions that were 
easily understood.

Officers noted concerns from a Member that he thought the language used in the finance 
reports was still too technical and at a degree level which could not be understood by non-
financial members of the public, though it was acknowledged that this was an evolving 
process and further enhancements to the Glossary of Terms could be made in future years.

Members agreed to the amendments to the Glossary put forward in this Report and 
approves their inclusion into the Financial Statement for 2017/18.

53. Audit & Counter Fraud Charter 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) presented to 
Members the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter for approval. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) informed the 
Committee that there were no material changes to the content of the Charter. However, 
minor amendments to its references to the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud had been made 
more generic and specific references to the previous holder of the post were removed.

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 13.03.2018

4

Members approved the Charter presented at Appendix 2.  

54. Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Work Plan 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) presented the 
Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Plan for Gravesham to Members for approval. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) highlighted the 
following key points: 

 There was a small restructure to the Audit & Counter Fraud team to address the level 
of fraud savings being delivered, a drop in financial savings is to be expected though 
as benefits fraud is no longer dealt with by the team which amounted to a large 
chunk of work and savings, and various other concerns from the team which were 
identified through individual one to ones 

 It was decided that the previous post of Audit & Counter Shared Services Manager 
was no longer required, so the post was dissolved and the savings made were used 
to create an additional Audit & Counter Fraud Team leader post in order to spread 
the managing of staff. The vacancy for an Audit & Counter Fraud Officer will be 
replaced with an Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and the team will have 
resource available for 389 days of assurance work and 277 days of counter fraud 
work, both of which are higher than the previous year. 

 Independent assurance has had to be sought for the Counter Fraud function as the 
team cannot audit their own service. T&M and KCC are in a similar situation, so were 
approached with the suggestion that between the three authorities, 12 days are set 
aside for each service and we will audit each other. This was designed to be cost 
neutral. : The 12 days for the shared service are split between the Medway (7) and 
Gravesham (5) plans

- Gravesham/Medway will audit the T&M fraud service
- T&M will audit  the KCC fraud service
- KCC will audit the Gravesham/Medway counter fraud function    

Following Members question and comments, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) advised that: 

 The implementation arrangements to meet the requirements of GDPR have been 
audited during 2017-18. The 2018-19 plan includes an audit of the arrangements that 
have been put in place post implementation and this will be looked at late in the year. 
Audit has been carried out in the current year on the implementing changes relating 
to the General Data Protection Regulations and towards the end of the year, a post 
implementation review will be instigated 

 With regard to the items on the work plan, some of them are reviewed annually, bi-
annually or over a certain number of years. In years where there are fewer audits on 
the cycle, more areas will be selected from the risk assessment 

 Proactive work carried out has increased on the 2018-19 plan due to the introduction 
of the intelligence analyst but the actual numbers would have to be checked outside 
the meeting as they were not to hand.  

Members approved the Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Plan for Gravesham presented at 
appendix 2. 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 13.03.2018

5

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:17pm. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Part A 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 12 June 2018 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive) 
 

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2017-18 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To inform Members of the Audit & Counter Fraud work completed during 2017-18 and to 
present the opinion of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, as Chief Audit 
Executive, on the council’s internal control environment..  

Recommendations: 

Members are requested to: 

1. Endorse the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for 
Gravesham during 2017-18 in providing an effective service to the council. 

2. Consider and endorse the opinion on the council’s internal control environment 
provided by the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service.  

 
1. Background 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive to 
provide an annual internal audit opinion based on an objective assessment of the 
framework of governance, risk management and control. The Annual Audit & 
Counter Fraud Report 2017-18 has been prepared for the authority to meet this 
requirement. 

1.2 Since 1 March 2016 the council’s internal audit activity has been delivered by the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council 

2. Preparation of the Annual Report 

2.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service has provided update reports to 
Members at three meetings of the Finance & Audit Committee in 2017-18.  This 
Annual Report reproduces the findings reported in those Update reports along 
with the results of work carried out since the last Update, to provide Members with 
a summary of all work delivered by the team in the year.  

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

2.2 The Annual Report is intended to provide Members with sufficient details of the 
results of the work of the team to support the opinion of the Chief Audit Executive 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s overall control environment.  

2.3 The report has been prepared in line with the requirements of the PSIAS. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

3.1 Nil   

Page 10



3 

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

Legal  The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for 
establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated 
this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal 
audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application 
Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

Finance and Value 
for Money  

An adequate and effective internal audit function provides the council with assurance 
on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have an adverse 
effect on the financial statements of the council. 

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
provides a key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of its internal control arrangements. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

4.  a. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No No impact 

b. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper make 
a positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No No impact 

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

 N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above 

Page 11



 

Corporate Business 
Plan 

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council.  
 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense. 
 

Information 
Governance 

There are no direct digital or website implications to this report. 

Safeguarding There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 12



 

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 
 
 
 
 

Audit & Counter Fraud  
Annual Report  

2017-18  
Gravesham Borough Council 

  

Page 13



   Page 2 of 38 

1. Introduction 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal audit 
assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to Medway 
Council & Gravesham Borough Council.    

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.  The 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the councils to manage 
their fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent activity committed against 
the councils.  The team also acts as the Single Point of Contact between both authorities and the 
Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of Benefits Fraud.   

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards), the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud provides Members with update reports detailing the work and findings of the team. The 
Standards also require that the Chief Audit Executive must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and 
report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. The annual internal 
audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control. 

 

2. Opinion of the Chief Audit Executive  

The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to ensure that they have: a sound 
system of internal control which— (a) facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 
achievement of its aims and objectives; (b) ensures that the financial and operational management of 
the authority is effective; and (c) includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.  The 
system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.   

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team has carried out all internal audit work in line with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards and in accordance with our Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme.   

In my capacity as Chief Audit Executive, with responsibility for the provision of internal audit services to 
the council, I am required to provide the organisation, and the Chief Executive, with a statement as to 
my opinion of the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 
governance processes. This opinion is intended to support the council’s annual governance statement. 

In assessing the level of assurance to be given, the following have been taken into account; 

 the results of all work carried out by the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Gravesham 
from the preparation of the Annual Internal Audit Report 2016-17 in June 2017 to the date of 
this report, 

 follow-up of recommendations linked to audits from previous periods, 

 Significant recommendations not accepted by management or acted upon and the consequent 
risks, 

 The effects of any significant changes in the organisation’s objectives or systems, 

 Matters arising from previous reports to the organisation, and 

 The results of work performed by other assurance providers. 

Although limited to the risk areas considered in the services and functions that have been subject to 
review in the year; I am satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow us to 

Page 14



   Page 3 of 38 

draw a reasonable conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management, system of internal control and governance processes. 

While it has been identified that the authority has mainly established adequate internal controls within 
the areas subject to review during 2017-18, there are areas where compliance with existing controls 
should be enhanced or strengthened or where additional controls should be introduced to reduce the 
risk of loss to the authority.  Where such findings have been made, recommendations have been made 
to management to improve the controls within the systems and processes they operate.  Management 
have accepted responsibility for the implementation of these recommendations and follow up 
arrangements are in place to ensure that appropriate action is taken. The results of all work completed 
will be reported to the Finance & Audit Committee in accordance with the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Charter. 

It is therefore my opinion that Gravesham Borough Council’s framework of governance, risk 
management and system of internal control is adequate and effective, and contributes to the proper, 
economic, efficient and effective use of resources in achieving the council’s objectives. 

3. Independence  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 
2018 and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.  The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members.  

Given its responsibilities for counter fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis.  

 

4.  Resources 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council 
and Gravesham Borough Council.  At the start of the year, the team had an establishment of 14 officers 
(13.6FTE), made up of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, the Audit & Counter Fraud Manager, two 
Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, nine Audit & Counter Fraud Officers and one Audit & Counter 
Fraud Assistant.  All members of the team started in these posts with the launch of the shared service 
on 1 March 2016. 

The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 36% for Gravesham with the remaining 64% for Medway. At the time the Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plans for 2017-18 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,666 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 622 days.  

In August 2017, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud post became vacant, as did one Audit & Counter 
Fraud Officer post in September 2017. The Audit & Counter Fraud Manager was appointed as the new 
Head of Service with effect from 01 November 2018, leaving the Manager post and one officer vacant 
for the remainder of the year. Two officers were also on long term sick leave for significant periods 

Page 15



   Page 4 of 38 

during the year and an agency employee was hired for a period of three months to supplement 
resources. 

As of 31 March 2018, the net staff days available for Gravesham for 2017-18 amounted to 562 days and 
484 days (86%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work.  Of this productive time, 66% 
was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 34% was spent on pro-active counter fraud 
and investigations work.  The current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 
of this report.   

Learning and development needs and objectives were agreed through the Performance Development 
Review (appraisal) process, and delivered through a mixture of formal qualification training, formal skills 
training, job-shadowing/mentoring and ‘on the job’ training.  Away day team meetings have taken place 
every other month, and all team members have had regular one to one meetings with their line 
manager to monitor progress with work-plans and to continue to identify and support staff to become 
proficient in all aspects of the team’s work.  

 

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2017-18 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 
Committee in March 2017. The Plan was intended to provide a clear picture of how the council would 
use the Audit & Counter Fraud resources, reflecting all work planned for the team for Gravesham during 
the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services.  

Arrangements to monitor the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual 
officer time recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks 
the performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the 
supervisory staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. 

During the course of the year the plan was amended to take into account changes in resource levels, 
operational risk levels and objectives of the organisation. Members agreed revisions to the original plan 
for 2017-18 to remove planned reviews of:  

 ICT Data Sharing - The project had not progressed, therefore no controls to audit 

 Shared Services - At the time of the scheduled audit, Gravesham operated Shared Services for 

Payroll, Legal and Audit & Counter Fraud - Specific audits were already scheduled for Payroll and 

Legal Services so a broader audit would be duplication. 

 Staff Performance Management Framework - The pending launch of the HR shared service was 

likely to have significant impact on processes, so it was felt that this would be more appropriate 

for 2018-19. 

 Repairs & Maintenance Supplies Management – The project to make changes to the system and 

process was behind schedule. As a consequence this was deferred to 2018-19 at the request of 

the client. 

 Waste & recycling project Post Implementation Review – The review was undertaken by the 

Corporate Change Manager and conducted independently of the service. Assurance would 

therefore be drawn from that review.   

The tables below provide details of the work from 2016-17 that was finalised in 2017-18, the progress of 
work undertaken as part of the 2017-18 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed.  
An update on progress with the 2018-19 plan is also provided.   

 

Page 16



   Page 5 of 38 

2016-17 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2017-18 (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 
 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

10 Transformation – 
change & project 
management 

20 15 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements have been put into place to ensure the delivery 
of the council’s Transformation programme. 

The review found that the council has appointed a Corporate Change Manager and 
has a clear strategy for delivering transformational change in the form of the Change 
Strategy 2016-19, approved by Cabinet in March 2016, which outlines how the council 
will review and, where necessary, change the way it delivers its services to residents 
and businesses in the borough in order to make savings through financial efficiencies. 

All change projects to date have been appropriately approved and supported by a 
Project Manager and Project Group, though there is a need to standardise procedures 
to ensure that all relevant arrangements are in place from the outset of the project, 
including involvement of the Corporate Change Manager and communication to staff.   

Arrangements exist for appropriate financing to be sought for all change projects, 
however improvements are needed in relation to performance management 
arrangements to ensure that the success of change projects can be effectively 
measured. Two post-implementation reviews have been undertaken for change 
projects to date and lessons learned have been identified and incorporated into future 
projects.  

The implementation of recommendations resulting from the work of the Service 
Review Team is being led by the Service Review Team, with a number of reports to the 
council’s Cabinet outlining the findings of the reviews and potential options. 
Monitoring of the implementation of the agreed options is being undertaken by 
Cabinet on a six monthly basis, with the first report being discussed at the meeting on 
03 July 2017.  

The work of the Digital Team will be reviewed separately as part of the 2017/18 Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plan. Opinion: Amber. 

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high priority, two medium 
priority and one low priority.  

Recommendations relate to the introduction of a change project initiation 
document, appointment of Project Managers / Groups at the point of project 
approval, the establishing of performance indicators to monitor the success of 
change projects, the timely communication of projects that affect large numbers of 
employees, corporate monitoring of the programme of change projects as a whole 

P
age 17



   Page 6 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

and the introduction of training / guidance for change project managers. 

18 Business continuity – 
IT recovery 

15 9.4 

 

Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 - An appropriate Business continuity (IT) Plan is in place. 

The review found that there is Business continuity (IT) Plan in place which outlines the 
basic steps needed should the IT servers at the civic centre become un-useable but this 
needs updating once the new processes are in place. The contact details on the plan 
have been updated during the audit process and arrangements should be made to 
ensure they are regularly reviewed. There are documents available linking the IT plan 
to the council’s main business continuity plan but information included in Appendix 4 
of the council’s overall plan is inaccurate. The generator to provide back-up power is 
only capable of providing power to the Ground and First Floors at the Civic Centre. The 
IT Team are currently working on a new project which will require them to produce a 
new business continuity (IT) plan. Opinion: Amber 

RMO2 - The Business continuity (IT) Plan is adequate and aids the effective delivery 
of key services in the event of an incident. 

The review found the critical systems required to be recovered following an incident 
have not been sufficiently identified. The decision on which systems should be 
prioritised for recovery in the event of an incident should be part of the overarching 
corporate business continuity plan. The IT plan contains details for the use of 
alternative servers, at the Brookvale site which had not been tested in the last five 
years. Prior to the audit the service identified these servers as inadequate and are near 
completion of an alternative back up via Medway Council. The new arrangements are 
due for completion by the end of May 2017 and will be tested to ensure they are 
capable of supporting all of the councils IT requirements in the event of a disaster. In 
the event of an incident all document data held on the council’s drives and 94% of all 
other information is backed up at least once a day, and stored securely. The other 6% 
of data is currently backed up daily on to hard drives and is stored securely off-site. All 
staff in the plan are now aware of their roles and responsibilities. Opinion: Red 

Overall opinion: Red. Recommendations: Two high priority and two medium 
priority.  

Recommendations relate to regular reviews of the IT continuity plan and 
overarching business continuity plan, training for staff involved with implementing 
the plan and testing of backup servers and generators.   

 

 

P
age 18



   Page 7 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

25 Prevention of 
procurement fraud 

10 7 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to prevent procurement fraud. 

The review found that the South East Consortium (SEC) has been used for the past six 
years to obtain procurement services at the Brookvale Depot for the majority of 
planned works and servicing programmes within the Contracts Team (this includes 
servicing and planned works contracts). This arrangement has been reviewed to 
ensure that it is cost effective. There is a consortium agreement in place between 
Gravesham Borough Council and SEC which has been executed by Legal Services. 

Medway Council also provide procurement services to Gravesham Borough Council; 
this arrangement has been in place for approximately 18 months. There is not 
currently a contract or service level agreement for this arrangement.  Gravesham 
Borough Council has appropriate Insurance cover of £1,000,000 for Employee 
dishonesty, computer fraud and funds transfer and forgery and counterfeiting. 
Procedures are in place to comply with the Government’s Transparency Principles and 
details of all procurement contracts with a value of over £5,000 are published on a 
quarterly basis, however audit testing found that these are not always up to date. 
Opinion: Amber 

Overall opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high priority and three medium 
priority.  

Recommendations relate to updating the Procurement Strategy, reviewing and 
formalising arrangements to secure procurement advice, strengthening controls to 
ensure all procurement activity specifically excludes suppliers convicted of fraud, 
bribery or corruption and ensuring transparency data is published in full on a timely 
basis. 

26 Prevention of 
creditors fraud 

10 7 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to prevent potential Creditors fraud. 

The review found appropriate measures are in place to prevent fraud being committed 
by external parties, with arrangements in place to verify changes to all supplier bank 
account details and system controls to prevent duplicate invoices being paid. No 
evidence of fraudulent activity or fraudulent intent was identified, however a risk has 
been identified that there is the potential for a staff member to create or request a 
fraudulent supplier account containing bank account details other than the genuine 
details of the supplier (including their own), and that this would not be immediately 
identified. National Fraud Initiative exercises comparing supplier and payroll data are 
conducted on a bi-annual basis, which would identify any instances where suppliers 

P
age 19



   Page 8 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

were set up with the bank account details as the account any employee has their 
salary paid to; however due to the infrequency of these exercises there is potential 
that any such fraud would go undetected for a significant time. An authorised 
signatories list is in place and is updated; however this is not stored in a secure 
location. In addition, although the total number of invoices and value of payments in 
each invoice batch is verified with the batch total, not all invoices are fully checked to 
ensure that they have been signed by an appropriate signatory due to time 
constraints, though endeavours are made to do this where possible. Opportunities 
were identified to introduce arrangements for monitoring and managing potential 
conflicts of interest. Opinion: Amber 

Overall opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high priority, two medium priority 
and one low priority.  

Recommendations relate to improving arrangements to verify the legitimacy of new 
and existing supplier accounts, enhancements to arrangements for approving 
invoices and maintaining an authorised signatory list and the introduction of 
arrangements to manage potential conflicts of interest. 

 

2017-18 Internal Audit Assurance work (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

Core governance and financial systems assurance work 

1 Finalisation of 2016-
17 planned work 

8 30.3 Complete All 2016-17 planned work completed.  

2 Performance 
Management  

10 3.1 Complete A&CF Officers worked with the Corporate Performance team to verify the 2016-17 
corporate performance information reported.  

3 Corporate 
Governance  

10 15.6 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Gravesham Borough Council’s Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
provides a fair representation of the Authority’s governance arrangements. 

Gravesham Borough Council’s latest Code of Corporate Governance was adopted by 
Full Council in February 2017. The Code commits to the council delivering its local 
governance framework in line with the core principals of the CIPFA-SOLACE 
framework and demonstrates how compliance with each of the principles will be 
achieved. Although the latest Code of Corporate Governance aligns with the principles 

P
age 20



   Page 9 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

of the 2016 CIPFA-SOLACE Framework, it was noted that it has not yet been 
incorporated into the council’s Constitution.  
The council’s Annual Governance Statement 2016-17 was presented to the Finance & 
Audit Committee on 13 June 2017 and provided information in relation to how the 
council complied with its Code of Corporate Governance and the CIPFA-SOLACE core 
principles in 2016-17. 
The review confirmed that the information provided within the 2016-17 AGS provides 
a fair representation of the council’s governance arrangements, though 
enhancements were identified in relation to:  

 Completion of a planned update to the council’s Constitution,  

 Ensuring that the most up to date counter-fraud policies are provided on the 

council’s website. Opinion: Amber. 

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high priority and one medium 
priority. 

Recommendations agreed, one high and one medium priority, relate to completion 
of planned review of the Constitution and ensuring up to date counter fraud policies 
are provided on the council’s website.  

Recommendation rejected, one high priority, related to formalising arrangements to 
monitor completion of improvements identified via the AGS. 

4 IT Security – User 
Access Control 

15 20.4 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Access to the council’s network is secure. 

The Public Sector Network (PSN) provides a secure network for all local authorities in 
England and Wales, designed to ensure the transfer of sensitive data securely. 
Although the council is still connected to the PSN, IT Services are working on a 
resolution to some issues identified when last applying for a connection certificate.  

Various ICT policies and guidelines are in place, including the Information Security 
Policy Overview document that draws other IT policies together; these can be found 
on the staff intranet. The staff handbook also contains IT information that forms part 
of the induction process that should be undertaken by line managers. Some policies 
are sent to staff via NetConsent annually and new starters are sent policies to be read 
and accepted within the first ten days of service.  However, as not all policies are 
regularly circulated, staff may be unaware of their content.  

It is understood that a process has recently been implemented by HR and the Digital 
team whereby requests for gaining access to or removing access from the network 
are input via a portal which automatically raises a support ticket within the IT 

P
age 21



   Page 10 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

helpdesk system for action; however, this process is not yet mentioned in any of the 
IT policies available to staff. 

IT Services are largely reliant on notification from other service areas of the need to 
remove network access when an employee leaves the council. Audit testing 
comparing a list of network users to data supplied by Payroll identified 20 accounts 
that were no longer required; these have since been removed from the system.  

Appropriate arrangements are in place for breaches of the council’s network to be 
prevented and detected. Opinion: Amber 

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high priority and three medium 
priority. 

Recommendations relate to completion of work required for the PSN connection, 
the updating and circulation of IT related policies, and ensuring that password re-
set options are activated. 

5 Payroll 15 8 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – The management of the payroll service contract between GBC and Medway 
council is complete and effective. 

There is a contract in place which defines roles and responsibilities between the service 
provider and the client however it has not been signed.  For some areas it may be 
useful to clarify if the responsibilities at Gravesham are with the HR team or the 
Finance team to ensure all staff at Gravesham know their responsibilities. 
Within the SLA it refers to other documents, schedule 1, 2 & 3 and a specification. As 
only schedule 1 was available for the audit the remaining documents should be 
completed before the contract is signed. The section relating to the fees and charges is 
the most important of these. 
The contract does appropriately cover the process and procedures to ensure payments 
are accurate and paid on time, all starters and leavers are entered accurately and 
promptly, all changes to existing payroll data are accurately processed, reviews of the 
contract and that Data Protection protocols are observed.  
Appropriate procedures have been implemented to ensure payroll transactions are 
recorded accurately on the council’s general ledger and are reconciled regularly. 
Opinion: Amber.  
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high priority and three medium 
priority.  
Recommendations relate to signing of the Payroll contract, General Ledger 
reconciliation and receipt of reports from Medway Council to provide assurance on 

P
age 22



   Page 11 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

the service received.  

6 Building Security 10 24.6 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 - There are sufficient security policies and procedures in place to enhance the 
security and safety of staff at the Civic Centre and Brookvale. 

The review found that a Security Policy for the Civic Centre and Brookvale has been 
produced, albeit, at the time of audit this has yet to be circulated to users of the 
buildings. Appropriate Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) systems are in place both 
inside and outside of the buildings; adequate opening and closing procedures are also 
in place and a comprehensive list of key holders exists.  

An Access Control System is in place for managing the security passes which allow 
access to council premises; enhancements have been identified to ensure that 
information within this system remains accurate and up to date. Opinion: Amber. 

RMO2 – There are sufficient procedures in place to ensure that visitors and 
contractors are adequately managed to enhance the security of the Civic Centre and 
Brookvale.  

Appropriate procedures are in place for admittance of visitors to council premises, 
although there is a need for staff to be reminded of the requirements of this process.  

Arrangements exist for access for contractors and temporary staff to be controlled via 
the Access Control System, though opportunities have been identified to ensure that 
information within this system remains accurate and up to date. Opinion: Amber. 

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high and two medium priority. 

Recommendations relate to finalisation of the Security Policy, enhancement of 
arrangements for managing the Access Control System and enhancement of 
arrangements for managing temporary passes. 

7 Risk Management 
Framework 

10 10.1 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 – The council has installed an appropriate risk management framework 
within the organisation. 
The review found that there is a Risk Management Strategy in place with an 
appropriate framework to identify, analyse and determine controls to mitigate risks 
through the business planning process; weaknesses were however identified in 
relation to the completeness of several service risk registers. Opinion: Amber. 
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two medium priority and two low 
priority. 
Recommendations agreed, two medium and one low priority, relate to ensuring 
that service risk registers are fully completed, ensuring roles and responsibilities are 

P
age 23



   Page 12 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

clear and ensuring an appropriate link between corporate and service level risk 
management processes.  
Recommendation rejected, one medium priority, relate to staff guidance on the risk 
register template. 

8 Creditors 10 N/A Draft Report 
with client for 
consideration 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Key controls are in place for the effective management of the creditors 
system. 

9 Housing Benefit 15 15.4 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Housing Benefit is appropriately administered and accurately calculated. 

The review found that the Housing Benefit claim form is available on the council’s 
website and at the Civic Centre, along with information relating to the evidence 
required to support a claim. A direct link to a facility provided on the council’s website 
for reporting changes of circumstances is provided on the Housing Benefit webpage 
under the heading ‘Tell us something’s changed’ and by clicking on ‘3. Tell us’, this 
then splits into two types of changes (Changing address or Other changes).  Whilst the 
customer is then prompted to sign up for a My Gravesham account they can continue 
without an account and complete the online Change of Circumstances form. 

Arrangements are in place for new claims and changes of circumstances to be 
accurately processed, on receipt of appropriate documentation, and procedures exist 
for claims to be backdated where necessary.  

An appropriate staff training strategy is in place and regular management checks and 
monitoring is undertaken to ensure claims are processed accurately and in a timely 
manner.  Opinion Green. 
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None. 

10 ICT Data Sharing - - - Removed from Plan. Agreed at November Finance & Audit Committee Meeting.  

11 Council Tax 15 15.0 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to Administer, Bill, Collect and Refund Council 
Tax. 

The review found that all liable parties and properties within the council tax system 
are uniquely identifiable, and regular reconciliations are carried out between council 
and Valuation Office Agency property records. 
The review also found that arrangements exist for annual bills to be sent to all banded 
properties, appropriate mechanisms are in place for taxpayers to report changes in 
circumstances and the council tax workflow is effectively managed.  

P
age 24



   Page 13 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

The council tax base is calculated and approved on an annual basis by Full Council and 
testing confirmed that the parameters within the council tax system are in line with 
the 2017/18 approved charges, ensuring that the correct rate of council tax is applied 
to all chargeable properties. 
Audit testing confirmed that council tax payments are accurately credited to the 
correct accounts in a timely manner and arrangements exist for payments which 
cannot be credited to accounts be investigated and allocated; regular reconciliations 
are also carried out between the council tax and general ledger systems.  

Appropriate arrangements exist for the processing of council refunds; however 
opportunities were identified to enhance procedures in relation to the processing of 
refunds relating to card payments, back to the originating card. Opinion: Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: One medium priority and one low 
priority. 

Recommendations relate to ensuring that appropriate safeguards are in place to 
prevent duplicate refunds being paid and ensuring that staff are aware of the checks 
that need to be undertaken when creating liable parties within the council system. 

12 Housing Rent 15 7 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements are in place to monitor and take action against 
current and former rent arrears within Gravesham Borough Council Housing Stock. 

The review found that set procedures are in place to monitor rent arrears for current 
tenants and tailored advice is provided where appropriate; audit testing confirmed 
that recovery action is taken in respect of current tenant arrears in line with council 
procedure. 
Procedures are also in place to support the recovery of former tenant arrears, 
although further action is needed to ensure these procedures are robust.  At present, 
letters are sent to former tenants about their arrears, with action targeted to those 
accounts with the greatest likelihood of success, but no further action can be taken 
given the council does not currently have a contract with an Enforcement Agent; it is 
understood that the appointment of a Corporate Enforcement Agent is being discussed 
via the council’s Corporate Debt Working Group. 

Arrangements exist for payments to be allocated to the correct rent accounts, though 
there is a need for manual procedures to be reviewed and additional measures put in 
place to ensure that direct debits are collected in a timely manner. Opinion: Amber.  

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high priority and two medium 
priority.  

P
age 25



   Page 14 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

Recommendations relate to discussions on the use of Enforcement Officers to 
recover former tenant arears; further measures to ensure that Direct Debits are 
collected in a timely manner; updating the procedure documents supporting the 
recovery of current and former tenant arrears; and, making details of the rent 
balance tracker available on the back of all rent arrears letters. 

13 Financial Planning 10 8.4 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - The council will have an ongoing plan to balance the General Fund revenue 
budget in the current year and in future years. 

The review found that the 2017-18 General Fund budget reflects the council’s agreed 
priorities, resources available and legal requirements. 

Roles and responsibilities are defined or communicated to staff to ensure accurate 
and complete information is received to set the financial plan. 

There is a timetable in place for setting and approving the financial plan, enabling the 
budget to be set and agreed in a timely manner.  

The financial plan is reviewed and agreed at the appropriate level and monitored on a 
regular basis. 

Projected deficits are acknowledged and plans put in place to mitigate them. Opinion: 
Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None. 

14 Capital Budget 
Management  

10 12 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Arrangements are in place for the appropriate management of capital 
budgets relating to Capital projects in the General Fund Account. 

The review found that an adequate and up-to-date 2017-18 general fund capital 
programme is in place, which has been appropriately approved. Arrangements are in 
place for frequent monitoring to be carried out on all scheme budgets as part of the 
quarterly budget monitoring process and a review of budget codes is undertaken 
quarterly by the Deputy Principal Accountant, to ensure all income & expenditure is 
coded correctly to the relevant general fund capital budgets. Opinion: Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None. 

15 Market  10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Arrangements for the collection and banking of market income are in place. 

 

 

P
age 26



   Page 15 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

16 IT Infrastructure 
(Also listed as IT 
Licences & 
Telephony)  

15 4.8 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 – Arrangements exist for appropriate licence management.  

The authority holds an Enterprise Agreement with Microsoft, lasting three years, 
covering a certain amount of licences. Microsoft conducts an annual check to 
determine whether the required number of licences has changed.  

The authority has a portal known as the Snow Programme, supplied by Civica, which 
retains an accurate record of licences held as evidence of the current position. It 
provides reports on a monthly basis, identifying which licences are not being used 
and recommending their removal. On an annual basis Civica supply an effective 
licensing position (ELP) spreadsheet; showing increases and decreases in licences 
used over the year and provides a total figure, which enables the calculation of any 
cost savings.  

Access to the portal, which is also used for asset management, is restricted to four 
employees within the IT Helpdesk Team and Civica hold the only administrator rights 
to add or remove users.  

The use of this portal means that the authority is being pro-active and can evidence 
its licencing requirements in the event of a challenge from Microsoft. Opinion: Green 

RMO2 – Arrangements exist for the appropriate management and future provision 
of the authority’s telephony.  

The council has 45 lines supplied by Virgin Media and IT services can allocate 
individual extensions numbers ending 7000 to 7999. Extension numbers are allocated 
to posts and managed in the same way as network access; when notification is 
received advising of a new starter or a role change requiring amendments. 

In the event of an incident interrupting service on the council’s phone line, Virgin 
Media are able to divert the council’s main numbers to alternative lines to keep the 
service up and running.  

Bills are received but only reviewed if they are over the expected amounts or felt to 
be excessive.  

IT Services are aware that the current telephony system needs to be updated and a 
project is being commenced; the draft project plan is currently being drawn up with 
the expectation that the replacement of the telephony system will take place in 2018-
19. Opinion: Green 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None. 

 

P
age 27



   Page 16 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

17 Responsive 
Assurance Work  

8 8.6 Completed During 2017-18 the team have:  

 Carried out detailed checks to ensure the accuracy of spreadsheets used to verify 

the ballots issued and calculate the results of:  

- The Kent County Council election in May 

- The General election in June  

- The October Bi-election 

 Undertaken accuracy checks on Payroll data transferred to the new system 

following the transfer of Payroll administration to Medway Council.  

 Verified control procedures within the bank reconciliation process following the 

implementation of the new income cash management and bank reconciliation 

system. 

 Conducted a review of the gender pay gap statistical analysis 

Corporate risks assurance work 

Ongoing financial viability of the council 

18 Digital 
Transformation 

10 12.7 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements are in place to deliver digital transformation.  

The review found that a Digital Strategy for 2015-18 is in place, which was approved 
by Cabinet on 5 January 2015 and supports the council’s aims and objectives, as set 
out in the Corporate Plan 2015-19. A Digital Team has been created and the work of 
the team aligns with the 2015-17 transitional areas of focus set out in section four of 
the Strategy. The team’s priorities for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 have 
also been appropriately documented within the Digital Team Business Plan 2017-18. 
There are plans for the Digital Strategy to be updated in 2018-19. 

Appropriate arrangements exist for digital transformation projects to be identified, 
with much of the work carried out by the Digital Team to date focused on the 
replacement of core systems and improvements highlighted by the service review 
process. Procedures are in place for the feasibility of all projects to be assessed, with 
projects approved by Management Team and /or Cabinet as necessary.  

Arrangements also exist for the delivery of all projects to be monitored by the Digital 
Team, though it would be beneficial for formal post-implementation reviews to be 
carried out in order to capture lessons learned and document successes and savings.  

Appropriate budgets exist for the delivery of digital transformation projects. Opinion: 

P
age 28



   Page 17 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: One medium priority.  

Recommendation relates to implementing a process for conducting post-
implementation reviews for all digital transformation projects. 

19 Contact Centre 
Operations 

15 4.6 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 – The Customer Service Team provides accurate, appropriate information to 
customers in a timely manner. 

Customer Services continues to provide a good quality service to customers, directing 
them to the appropriate service to help their needs. The service is committed to 
providing a quality frontline service, which is monitored well and is instrumental in 
driving forward the channel shift to digital platforms.  

The need for services to ensure the information they give Customer Services 
regarding changes to their working practices and special projects that might cause 
more phone calls or footfall is paramount and suggestions for improvements in this 
area have been identified. Opinion: Green. 

RMO2 – The Customer Service Team is taking an active lead in movement of 
customers to digital platforms. 

The Customer Services team is actively involved in signing up customers to ‘My 
Gravesham’ and eBilling and to promoting the council’s digital platforms. Intended 
changes to the Reception area and a better use of the screens in those areas to 
promote the channel shift will ensure that the team remains agile and able to respond 
effectively to enhancing the customer experience as they assist them to make to the 
change to self-help and face to face contact is reduced. Opinion: Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: Three medium and one low priority. 

Recommendations relate to aligning the period of the Customer Service and Access 
Strategy to that of the corporate plan, resuming the monitoring of webchat 
performance, Customer Services champions attending the team meetings of other 
services and a review of the main reception area as part of the strategy review. 

Changes in national priorities and legislative change 

20 General Data 
Protection Regulation 

15 7.1 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Effective arrangements are in place to ensure compliance ahead of the 
introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation on 25 May 2018. 

The Information Commissioners Office (ICO) has put in place a 12 step guide for 
preparing for the General Data Protection Regulation. The review found some action is 

P
age 29



   Page 18 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

being taken across the council to implement these 12 steps, though further work will 
be required before the GDPR comes into force in May 2018.  

At the time of audit, the council did not have a documented project plan in place to 
manage the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation and show 
what is required, by whom and when. A risk assessment process was however 
underway to identify and prioritise the actions needed to ensure compliance with the 
GDPR and this will form the basis of a formal project plan, which will be monitored by 
the Information Governance Group.  Opinion: Amber.  

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high priority.   

Recommendation relates to ensuring that a project plan is put in place and regularly 
monitored to ensure that requirements of the GDPR are met prior to May 2018. 

Organisational capacity / resilience 

21 Shared Services - - - Removed from Plan. Agreed at November Finance & Audit Committee Meeting. 

22 Business Continuity  10 N/A Draft Report 
with client for 
consideration 

The review was due to consider the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure each service has a updated and 
relevant Business Continuity Plan in place.  

However, consultancy work has taken place which will …… 

23 Member 
Development 

10 12.5 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to provide Members with training and 
development. 

In 2016 a three year training plan was set for Members to ensure that they all 
received uniform training to keep them up to date on issues concerning the Council.  
The plan is subject to an annual review to take account of any additional sessions that 
may be required, either by changes in legislation or at the request of Members.  

The training provided is designed to assist Members in their roles as Councillors and in 
some cases to their roles on Committees. If Members do not attend the training they 
may not be properly trained in an area and this may affect their ability to make up to 
date, sound decisions. For example, in order for Members to sit on both the 
Regulatory Panel and the Licensing panel, they have to have taken the relevant 
training and attend periodic refresher courses. Audit testing found that there were 
adequate Members trained to sit on both panels. 

Cabinet agreed a minimum attendance level of ten Members (eight in some cases) for 
each training session to ensure that sessions also provided value for money. Only one 
course has been cancelled since the start of the training plan; which was due to bad 

P
age 30



   Page 19 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

weather rather than insufficient sign up.  

All Members are able to attend any training session and invites are sent accordingly 
with specific training sessions that are relevant to Members of certain committee’s 
flagged accordingly. A number of courses are noted as being recommended for all 
Members. 

A process is in place to monitor course attendance to ensure courses are delivered 
effectively and Members undertake the training required of them. 

Audit testing was undertaken, looking at training sessions 

delivered during the period July 2016 to November 2017. 

The testing identified that there were two courses recommending that all Members 
attend. 

Attendance figures showed that there had been 15 and 17 Members at the respective 
sessions. 

Testing also identified that 36 of the 44 Members (82%) had attended ten or less of 
the 24 training sessions provided during the period. Four Members were not listed on 
the attendance sheets of any training sessions. 

Feed- back is invited and welcomed on all training sessions, in order to establish if the 
course has achieved the objectives, identify any areas for improvement and also to 
rectify issues that may have arisen. Attendance and feedback on training sessions is 
reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee twice a year. Opinion: Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: One low priority. 

Recommendation relates to Party Leaders being provided with attendance 
information on a quarterly basis. 

24 Legal & Contractual 
Advice (including 
Procurement) 

10 7.1 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – There are adequate arrangements in place to ensure Gravesham Borough 
Council receives the Legal Services and contractual advice it requires from Medway 
Council Legal Services. 

The contract clearly defines Medway Council’s responsibilities and the scope of the 
work to be carried out for the council.  

Medway Council have appropriate resources available to carry out required work and 
arrangements exist to allocate the case load without bias or prejudice to either 
council. 

The council does have some monitoring/reporting procedures in place however this is 
not sufficient to ensure appropriate contributions are being made. 

P
age 31



   Page 20 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

One requirement for monitoring will be around the funding element. The council are 
not independently monitoring the volume or the individual cost centres of the work 
being carried out by the Legal team and therefore will not be able to accurately 
calculate their required contribution at the end of the financial year or how it should 
be re-charged to their services. 

The senior management meet regularly with the Head of Legal and feel confident that 
any operational issues i.e. quality of work, complaints etc. can be discussed either at 
the meetings or privately by phone. Opinion: Amber. 

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One Medium priority. 

Recommendation relates to creating a suite of KPIs; that include all necessary 
information, and a reporting schedule being agreed by senior management. 

25 Staff performance 
Management 
Framework 

- - - Deferred to 2018-19. Agreed at November Finance & Audit Committee Meeting. 

Housing Revenue Account services 

26 Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy 

10 N/A Draft Report 
with client for 
consideration 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – The council has arrangements in place to ensure the required safety checks 
are carried out on HRA properties so that the council meets its duties as a Landlord. 

27 Repairs & 
Maintenance 
Supplies 
Management 

15 - - Deferred to 2018-19 as per client request. 

28 Void Property 
Management & Re-
let 

15 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements exist for void property management and re-let. 

Waste & recycling Project 

29 Waste & recycling 
project Post 
Implementation 
Review 

 

 

5 - - Removed from plan as review completed by Corporate Change Manager. 

P
age 32



   Page 21 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

100% Business Rates Retention Scheme 

30  NNDR 10 14.8 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – There are processes in place to identify, record and share information 
about hereditaments in the borough. 

The review found that business rates information is held on the Northgate revenues 
and benefits management system, and the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG), 
which also contains a record of hereditaments in the borough, is held on a module in 
the Uniform Gazetteer management system.   

Records held on Northgate have a unique reference number which is also used by the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA).  Records on the LLPG are allocated a UPRN.  There is a 
field on Northgate for the LLPG UPRN to be recorded, but it is not recorded on all 
records.  Most of the records on the LLPG contain the Northgate reference.   

Regular reconciliation of records held in Northgate to records held by the VOA are 
carried out and signed off by management.  It is not currently possible to run a match 
on records in Northgate to those held on the LLPG, although it is understood 
Northgate can provide a solution at a cost. At the time of audit, the LLPG contained 
slightly fewer records than NNDR records on Northgate, suggesting that Northgate 
contains a more complete list of hereditaments in the borough. 

A weekly report of updates from Northgate is provided for the LLPG and updates are 
also received via GeoPlace. The officer managing the LLPG provides information to the 
NNDR team when she is made aware of updates from other sources.  Information is 
also received from Legal and Estates via email, but there is currently no set process 
for sharing hereditament information between council departments.  With the 
introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in 2018, data about 
hereditaments that is shared and includes personal data (e.g. a business run from a 
home address) should be subject to a Privacy Impact Assessment. Information about 
hereditaments is also received via Analyse Local; a company that uses satellite 
imagery.  If they are successful and the VOA changes the rateable value they receive a 
commission. 

Arrangements exist for information received from the public regarding NNDR 
hereditaments to be updated on the Northgate system, where appropriate. Opinion: 
Green. 

Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: One medium priority. 

Recommendation relates to consideration of data matching between council 
systems, data sharing between departments and ensuring compliance with the 

P
age 33



   Page 22 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

GDPR. 

 

Counter Fraud work  

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

Counter Fraud Assurance Work 

31 Use of Council 
Vehicles 

14.4 N/A Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 

RMO1 – Arrangements exist to ensure council owned/ leased pool vehicles are used 
appropriately. 

The authority is at risk of misuse of council vehicles and or fuel due to insufficient 
controls in place to monitor journeys and fuel usage in leased pool vehicles.  

While there is sufficient information available to monitor the use of fleet vehicles and 
fuel used at the depot; the authority is at risk of fleet vehicles and or fuel being used 
for non-work purposes due to the lack of controls in place to monitor journeys and fuel 
usage.    

Depot managers allow officers to take vehicles home on the understanding they attend 
site first thing the following morning or are required to attend out of hours’ calls. 
There are sufficient controls in place to monitor officers’ use of vehicles during the 
working day however no consideration has been made to consider monitoring of 
evening or weekend use outside the out of hours work undertaken. Opinion: Amber. 

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high priority, one medium priority 
and five low priority.  

Recommendations relate to a policy with a definition of acceptable use, monitoring 
of fuel, use of council vehicles by officers from shared services, monitoring of tracker 
data on fleet vehicles, recording of mileage incurred using lease pool vehicles and 
the cost effectiveness of lease pool vehicles. 

32 Right to Buy  10 10.5 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 – There are adequate arrangements in place to prevent Right to Buy fraud. 

Gravesham Borough Council utilises the ‘model’ Right to Buy application form as 
produced by Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). The form is 
considered robust; however, a number of local authorities now use a supplementary 
claim form to obtain further information that is omitted from the DCLG application 
and establishes, amongst other things, how the applicant(s) intend to finance the 

P
age 34



   Page 23 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

purchase the property. Many also include declarations regarding the source of funds 
to appropriately address the requirements of money laundering regulations. 

The Housing Services Business Plan makes no reference to the fraud risks associated 
with the Right to Buy scheme.  Opinion: Amber.  

RMO2 – There are adequate arrangements in place to detect Right to Buy fraud. 

Details of applications are cross matched against internal systems; council tax and 
benefits for example, in an effort to verify the details provided. However, ID is only 
requested where documents are not already held. For example if there is ID on benefit 
records, no request will be made.   

There is no provision in place for visits to be conducted as part of the Right to Buy 
process to ensure that applicants are resident in their properties and are not sub-
letting or otherwise committing tenancy breaches that would impact on the sale of the 
property. Opinion: Amber. 

RMO3 – There are adequate arrangements in place to investigate and deter Right to 
Buy fraud. 

A Housing Services Anti-Fraud Policy exists, which clearly sets out the authorities’ 
stance on all forms of housing fraud, including right to buy. 
Staff are aware of the means in which suspicions of Right to Buy Fraud can be reported 
to the Audit & Counter Fraud team and these are investigated but applications are 
often allowed to proceed regardless of concerns raised by investigators about 
potential fraud or money laundering suspicions.    

Deterrents would be more effective if the council took a stronger approach to blocking 
suspicious applications and publicised any successful action taken against those found 
to have committed fraud. Opinion: Amber.  

Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Five high priority and three medium 
priority.  

Recommendations relate to the introduction of secondary application forms, money 
laundering questionnaires, updates to the housing business plan, ID verification for 
all applicants, un-notified visits to all applicants, written procedures covering the 
verification process, the introduction of an enforcement policy and publicity of any 
positive actions taken in respect of right to buy fraud. 

One recommendation rejected, relating to the introduction of an enforcement policy. 
This is to be incorporated into verification procedures instead. 

 

P
age 35



   Page 24 of 38 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

Pro-Active Counter Fraud Work 

36 Data matching 
exercises, including 
National Fraud 
Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network 

10 N/A Completed Matches received as part of the 2016-17 exercise were distributed to relevant 
departments for checking to take place in order to eliminate any false positives and to 
report any concerns over suspected fraud to the Audit & Counter Fraud Team. No 
referrals were received in connection with these matches. 

The KIN project was paused mid-way through the year when the board parted 
company with the software supplier due to the lack of results. Consequently the 
anticipated level of data matching did not take place. Once a new software provider 
has been procured, data matching will recommence.   

Following the identification of a false university certificate being supplied in support 
of a council tax exemption, an exercise was commenced in March 2018 to look for 
further potential false student exemptions. This involved the certificates supplied by 
anyone in receipt of a student exemption, approximately 90 addresses, being 
examined for anomalies. Approximately 10 cases were identified for further 
investigation and enquiries with the relevant education body. The investigations are 
still ongoing and results will be reported throughout 2018-19. 

37 Fraud awareness 10 1 Completed A briefing session took place in early November where Members received a 
presentation outlining the potential financial losses when applying national estimates 
at a local level. 

Similar briefings will take place for MT and Service Managers. 

 

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations 

Area 
Number of 

cases concluded 
Summary of results Cashable Savings 

Non-cashable 
Savings 

Prevented Losses 

Council Tax 18 During 2017-18, 18 cases directly relating to 
council tax reduction, discounts or exemptions 
have been completed. 

As a result, those cases have identified additional 
Council Tax liabilities with a total value of £4,070. 

The changes to future awards of council tax 
reduction and the removal of discounts, such as 
single person discount, also mean that the Council 
Tax liability for future years was increased by 

£1,419.52  

(Total value for 
GBC share of 

additional 
liabilities 

identified and full 
value of all 

penalties applied) 

  

P
age 36



   Page 25 of 38 

Area 
Number of 

cases concluded 
Summary of results Cashable Savings 

Non-cashable 
Savings 

Prevented Losses 

£5,426. 

In addition, four people received civil penalties of 
£70 for negligent failure to report changes in their 
circumstances that impacted on their entitlement 
to a reduction or discount.  

This gives a total value of £9,776. 

Tenancy 21 The team has completed 21 investigations into 
suspected tenancy fraud, in connection with sub-
letting and non-residence.  

Five council properties have been recovered as a 
result of those investigations, 

 £90,000  

Right to Buy 2 The team has completed two investigations 
connected to applications under the right to buy 
scheme.  

Fraud was identified in one case, where a family 
member had forged the signature of the elderly 
tenant. The subject of the investigation received a 
caution for the offence and the right to buy 
application was cancelled. 

  £77,900 

Housing Allocations 7 Investigations were linked to persons applying for 
housing through the Homechoice scheme who 
were suspected to have had changes in their 
circumstances that impacted on their eligibility for 
housing that had not been reported. 

One person has been removed from the waiting list 
as a result of the investigation. 

 £4,000  

Other 1 An allegation was received in relation to an 
application under the rent deposit scheme after 
the tenant, who was being chased by Gravesham 
for repayment, advised that the landlord had not 
returned the deposit.  

This was not investigated further as it was a 
landlord tenant dispute rather than fraud against 
the authority but did prompt the addition of an 

   

P
age 37



   Page 26 of 38 

Area 
Number of 

cases concluded 
Summary of results Cashable Savings 

Non-cashable 
Savings 

Prevented Losses 

assurance review of the rent deposit scheme on 
the 2018-19 workplan. 

 

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations 

No investigations required during 2017-18  

 

Other consultancy services including advice & information (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Client service area Services provided 

HR Shared Service  The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud was part of the project group for the HR Shared Service with Medway. 

Draft Finance Procedure Rules Review undertaken of proposed draft procedures.  

Automated Invoicing  Two of the Audit & Counter Fraud Officers were part of the project group overseeing implementation of 
the Creditors automated invoicing system.  

Interreg  France (Channel) England Go Trade 
Project  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader has been appointed and undertaken training to deliver the First 
Level Controller role for Gravesham Borough Council as part of this project.  

Finance  Review undertaken to provide advice regarding the control implications of opening a council EBay account 
for the sale or surplus assets.  

Town Twinning Association The team carried out an audit of the Gravesham Town Twinning Association’s accounts. 

P
age 38



   Page 27 of 38 

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme  
The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 
improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service QAIP for 2017-18 was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2017.  

The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management processes.  It 
should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent data quality 
verification.  

In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 25 performance indicators based on the 
balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth and customer. 
Performance targets have been set for 15 of the 25 indicators and outturns presented are those as of 31 March 
2018.   

Ref  Target Outturn for 2017-18 
    

Financial 
    

A&CF1 Total cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Service (compared to the 2015-16 
baseline year budgets) 

N/A GBC cost £191,652 

(2015-16 £272,016) 

A&CF 2 Average cost per assurance review £5,000 £3,371 (24 reviews completed, averaging 10.4 
days per review) 

A&CF 3 Cost per A&CF day £350 £323 

A&CF 4 Value of fraud losses identified, by fraud 
type (cashable & non-cashable) 

N/A Cashable Total: £9,776 (proportion retained by 
Gravesham: £1,419.52) 
Breakdown:  
£4,070 historic Council Tax  
£5,426 additional Council Tax for future years  
£280 – four civil penalties imposed. 
 
Non Cashable Total: £171,900  
Breakdown:  
Five properties recoveries @ 18,000 each One 
waiting list removal @ £4,000  
Prevented loss of £77,900 connected to a 
blocked fraudulent Right to Buy 

    

Internal Process 
    

A&CF 5 Compliance with PSIAS 100% A refresh of the self- assessment was carried 
out in December 2017, which showed full 
compliance with 94% of the standards, partial 
compliance with a further 3% and work 
required to address the remaining 3%. The 
findings were passed to the external assessor 
from Gateway Assure as part of the External 
Quality Assessment (EQA) conducted in 
February 2018.  

The assessment was positive with performance 
in line with or above that of other local 

Page 39



   Page 28 of 38 

Ref  Target Outturn for 2017-18 

authorities as per benchmarking. Areas for 
improvement have been identified and an 
action plan to deal with recommendations has 
been prepared. 

A&CF 6 Proportion of available resources spent 
on productive work  

90% 86% 

A&CF 7 Proportion of productive time spent on: 

a) assurance work 

b) Consultancy work 

55% Total 66% 

63% 

3% 

A&CF 8 Proportion of productive time spent on: 

a) proactive counter fraud work 

b) reactive counter fraud work 

45% Total: 34% 

1% 

33% 

A&CF 9 Investigator average caseload TBC 10 

A&CF 10 Proportion of agreed plan: 

Delivered (fieldwork completed) 

Underway (fieldwork current) 

95%  

91% 
9% 

A&CF 11 Proportion of assignments completed 
within allocated day budget 

90% 54.5%  

A&CF 12 Proportion of recommended actions 
agreed by client management 

90% 96% 

A&CF 13 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date 

95% 80% 

A&CF 14 Number of recommendations agreed 
that are:  

a) not yet due 

b) implemented 

c) outstanding 

N/A  

 

0 

75 

19 

A&CF 15 Number of referrals received N/A 68 

A&CF 16 Number of investigations closed N/A 49 
    

Learning & growth 
    

A&CF 17 Proportion of staff with relevant 
professional qualification 

25% 92% 

A&CF 18 Proportion of non-qualified staff 
undertaking professional qualification 
training   

25% 25% 

A&CF 19 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development 

70 Days 64.4 days 

A&CF 20 Staff turnover N/A 14.2% 

A&CF 21 Proportion of completed reviews 
subject to a second stage (senior 
management) quality control check in 
addition to the primary quality control 
review 

10% 4% 

    

Page 40



   Page 29 of 38 

Customer 
    

A&CF 22 Customer satisfaction with overall 
service 

95% N/A - A full client survey has not been possible. 
To be undertaken during 2018-19 

A&CF 23 Member satisfaction Positive N/A – A survey of Members views has not been 
possible due to other operational pressures 
created by staff sickness and turnover during 
the year.  

A&CF 24 Opinion of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception. 

The Audit Plan for 2017-18 from Grant 
Thornton raises no concerns in relation to the 
work of internal audit.  

A&CF 25 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment 

95% 100% positive response to post review client 
surveys 

 

7. Follow up of agreed recommendations 
Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, governance 
and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for improvement with service 
managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the risk of not 
taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk.  

Following the launch of the shared service, the follow up arrangements in place at both Gravesham and 
Medway were reviewed and a revised process, consistent across both sites, was agreed with senior 
management.  It was agreed that service managers will be asked to provide an update on action taken towards 
implementing all recommendations agreed, but they will also be asked to supply evidence to confirm the action 
stated for all High Priority recommendations and the Audit & Counter Fraud Team will verify this.  In addition, 
recommendations made as part of proactive and reactive counter fraud work will be incorporated into the 
follow up process to ensure action is taken to address fraud risks identified.  The outcome of follow up work has 
been monitored by the council’s Management Team on a quarterly basis throughout the year.  

The table below sets out the position of all recommendations which have formed part of the recommendation 
follow-up process during the 2017-18 financial year.  

 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

Planning 
Enforcement 

Opinion: Amber 

Seven recommendations agreed: three high 
priority, three medium, one low.  

Recommendations related to the publication of 
policy and guidance on the council’s website and 
the development of procedure notes for staff, 
improving arrangements to monitor planning 
conditions, prioritising investigations of reports 
received and introducing specific arrangements to 
ensure all staff declare any interests. 

Seven recommendations due, six 
implemented. 

One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored 
by senior management through 
quarterly reports to the council’s 
Management Team.  

 

Page 41



   Page 30 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

Section 106 
Agreements  & 
Other Planning 
Obligations   

Opinion: Amber 

Five recommendations agreed: three high priority, 
two low.  

Recommendations related to improving 
consistency of Management Team reports 
requesting changes to the establishment, ensuring 
appropriate formal agreements are in place where 
external contracted staff are used, and ensuring 
the salaries budget and information held by 
HR/payroll are regularly reconciled.   

Five recommendations due, four 
implemented. 

One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored 
by senior management through 
quarterly reports to the council’s 
Management Team.  

 

Council Tax 
Recovery 

Opinion: Amber 

Three recommendations agreed: three high 
priority.  

Recommendations related to improving 
arrangements for writing off small balances, 
ensuring audit trails are maintained and increasing 
reviews of historical debt.   

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

 

Council Tax 
Discounts, 
Disregards & 
Exemptions 

Opinion: Amber 

Five recommendations agreed: three high priority, 
one medium, one low. 

Recommendations were made to ensure that 
applications are completed and evidence checked 
in respect of all discounts, disregards and 
exemptions and that reviews are undertaken in a 
timely manner. Recommendations were also made 
to ensure that procedure notes are up to date and 
audit trails are maintained. 

Five recommendations due, four 
implemented. 

One low priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored 
by senior management through 
quarterly reports to the council’s 
Management Team.  

 

Bulky & Green 
Waste Collections 

Opinion: Green 

One recommendation agreed: one high priority.  

The recommendation related to reviewing the 
payment methods available to bulky and green 
waste customers and improving controls 
surrounding cash payments. 

One recommendation due, one 
implemented.   

Staff Sickness 
Recording & 
Monitoring 

Opinion: Amber 

Three recommendations agreed: one high priority, 
two medium. 

Recommendations we made to review the 
council’s Managing Sickness Absence Policy, and 
enhance arrangements for monitoring sickness 
absence data. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.  

 

Taxi Licensing – 
Administration & 
Enforcement 

Opinion: Amber 

Six recommendations agreed: three high priority, 
three medium.  

Recommendations were made to ensure that 

Six recommendation due, six 
implemented. 

 

Page 42



   Page 31 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

details of all license applications are recorded and 
published on the public register, to ensure that 
supporting documentation is obtained and 
appropriately stored for all applications and to 
ensure that reconciliations are undertaken to 
verify that all application fees have been received.   

Treasury 
Management - 
Compliance 

Opinion: Green  

Three recommendations agreed: one medium 
priority, two low.  

Recommendations related to the updating of 
procedure notes, a review of the counter signatory 
function in treasury investment transactions and 
the updating of procedural guidance for reconciling 
investment transaction codes. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.  

 

Business Planning 
and Risk 
Management 

Opinion: Amber 

Three recommendations agreed: three medium 
priority.  

Recommendations related to refresher training in 
risk management and a monitoring process to 
ensure all services produce business plans and risk 
registers aligned to the corporate objectives. 

One medium priority recommendation rejected 
relating to formally aligning the budget setting and 
business plan/risk processes. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

Budget Monitoring Opinion: Green 

Three recommendations agreed: three low 
priority. 

Recommendations related to budget holders being 
reminded of constitutional responsibilities, records 
for monitoring of quarterly budget reviews and a 
training programme for budget holders. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.   

 

Sheltered Housing Opinion: Amber 

Seven recommendations agreed: two high priority, 
two medium, three low.  

Recommendations related to updates on 
procedures for Needs & Risk assessments, their 
timely review and retention of records 

Seven recommendations due, seven 
implemented. 

Private Housing 
Enforcement 

Opinion: Amber 

Three recommendations agreed: one high priority, 
two medium. 

Recommendations related to appropriate records 
being maintained for PI15, the updating of the 
private housing enforcement policy and gaining 
understanding of whether Category two and non-

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented. 

One medium priority 
recommendation outstanding – this is 
being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 

Page 43



   Page 32 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

urgent service requests are being handled in a 
timely manner. 

Management Team. 

 

Homelessness Opinion: Green 

Three recommendations agreed: Two medium 
priority, one low.  

Recommendations related to ensuring that the 
council’s homelessness strategy is up to date, 
ensuring that temporary accommodation 
placements are appropriately authorised, and 
setting a budget to monitor bed & breakfast 
expenditure 

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented.  

One medium priority 
recommendation outstanding – this is 
being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 
Management Team. 

 

Strategic Asset 
Management 

Opinion: Amber 

Six recommendations agreed: three high priority, 
three medium.  

Recommendations related to the updating and 
approval of existing policies and the council’s 
Constitution, arrangements for ensuring that 
records held by Finance and property Services 
align, ensuring that the council is making best use 
of the system currently used for maintaining its 
asset register, and the updating and approval of an 
existing policy. 

Five recommendations due, two 
implemented.  

One high and two medium priority 
recommendation outstanding – these 
are being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 
Management Team. 

 

Capital Planned 
Works 
Management 

Opinion: Green 

One recommendation agreed: one low priority.  

The recommendation related to more effective use 
of the council website and social media. 

No recommendations due before 31 
March 2018. 

Standards of 
Conduct 

Opinion: Amber 

Six recommendations agreed: four medium 
priority, two low.  

Recommendations related to; approvals for 
removal from Netconsent distribution lists, 
processes for declarations linked to gifts, 
hospitality and personal interests, updates to the 
employee code of conduct, and a central register 
of all declared personal interests. 

Six recommendations due, six 
implemented.  

 

 

NNDR Reliefs Opinion: Amber 

Six recommendations agreed: three high priority, 
one medium, two low.  

Recommendations related to information available 
on the councils website, discretionary rate relief 
criteria, use of application forms & declaration 
statements, and processes for determining 
charitable status and rate reliefs. 

Six recommendations due, three 
implemented.  

Three high priority recommendation 
outstanding – these are being 
monitored by senior management 
through the quarterly follow up 
reports to the council’s Management 
Team. 

 

Page 44



   Page 33 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

Business Continuity 
(IT) 

Opinion: Red 

Four recommendations agreed: two high priority, 
two medium.  

Recommendations related to regular reviews of 
the IT continuity plan and overarching business 
continuity plan, training for staff involved with 
implementing the plan and testing of backup 
servers and generators.   

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored 
by senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team. 

 

Prevention of 
Procurement Fraud 

Opinion: Amber 

Four recommendations agreed: one high priority, 
three medium.  

Recommendations related to updating the 
Procurement Strategy, reviewing and formalising 
arrangements to secure procurement advice, 
strengthening controls to ensure all procurement 
activity specifically excludes suppliers convicted of 
fraud, bribery or corruption and ensuring 
transparency data is published in full on a timely 
basis. 

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.  

One medium priority 
recommendation outstanding – this is 
being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 
Management Team. 

Prevention of 
Creditors Fraud 

Opinion: Amber 

Five recommendations agreed: two high priority, 
two medium, one low.  

Recommendations related to improving 
arrangements to verify the legitimacy of new and 
existing supplier accounts, enhancements to 
arrangements for approving invoices and 
maintaining an authorised signatory list and the 
introduction of arrangements to manage potential 
conflicts of interest. 

Five recommendations due, five 
implemented. 

Transformation – 
change & project 
management 

Opinion: Amber  

Six recommendations agreed: three high priority, 
two medium, one low.  

Recommendations related to the introduction of a 
change project initiation document, appointment 
of Project Managers / Groups at the point of 
project approval, the establishing of performance 
indicators to monitor the success of change 
projects, the timely communication of projects 
that affect large numbers of employees, corporate 
monitoring of the programme of change projects 
as a whole and the introduction of training / 
guidance for change project managers. 

Six recommendations due, six 
implemented. 

Right to Buy Opinion: Amber  

Eight recommendations agreed: five high priority 
and three medium.  

Eight recommendations due, five 
implemented.  

Three high priority recommendations 

Page 45



   Page 34 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

Recommendations related to the introduction of 
secondary application forms, money laundering 
questionnaires, updates to the housing business 
plan, ID verification for all applicants, un-notified 
visits to all applicants, written procedures covering 
the verification process, the introduction of an 
enforcement policy and publicity of any positive 
actions taken in respect of right to buy fraud. 

One recommendation rejected, relating to the 
introduction of an enforcement policy. This is to be 
incorporated into verification procedures instead. 

outstanding – these are being 
monitored by senior management 
through the quarterly follow up 
reports to the council’s Management 
Team. 

Payroll Opinion: Amber  

Four recommendations agreed: one high priority 
and three medium.  

Recommendations related to signing of the Payroll 
contract, General Ledger reconciliation and receipt 
of reports from Medway Council to provide 
assurance on the service received. 

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.  

One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored 
by senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team. 

Housing Rents Opinion: Amber  

Four recommendations agreed: two high priority 
and two medium.  

Recommendations related to discussions on the 
use of Enforcement Officers to recover former 
tenant arears; further measures to ensure that 
Direct Debits are collected in a timely manner; 
updating the procedure documents supporting the 
recovery of current and former tenant arrears; 
and, making details of the rent balance tracker 
available on the back of all rent arrears letters. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

GDPR Opinion: Amber  

One high priority recommendation agreed.  

The recommendation related to ensuring that a 
project plan is put in place and regularly monitored 
to ensure that requirements of the GDPR are met 
prior to May 2018. 

One recommendation due, one 
implemented.  

Use of Council 
Vehicles 

Opinion: Amber 

Seven recommendations agreed: one high priority, 
one medium and five low.  

Recommendations related to a policy with a 
definition of acceptable use, monitoring of fuel, 
use of council vehicles by officers from shared 
services, monitoring of tracker data on fleet 
vehicles, recording of mileage incurred using lease 
pool vehicles and the cost effectiveness of lease 
pool vehicles. 

One recommendation due, none 
implemented.  

One high priority recommendation 
outstanding – this is being monitored 
by senior management through the 
quarterly follow up reports to the 
council’s Management Team. 

Page 46



   Page 35 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

Council Tax Opinion: Green 

Two recommendations agreed: one high priority 
and one low.  

Recommendations relate to ensuring that 
appropriate safeguards are in place to prevent 
duplicate refunds being paid and ensuring that 
staff are aware of the checks that need to be 
undertaken when creating liable parties within the 
council system.  

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented.  

Corporate 
Governance 

Opinion: Amber 

Two recommendations agreed: one high priority 
and one medium.  

Recommendations relate to completion of a 
planned review of the Constitution and ensuring 
up to date counter fraud policies are provided on 
the council’s website.  
One high priority recommendation rejected 
relating to formalising arrangements to monitor 
completion of improvements identified via the 
AGS.  

One recommendation due, one 
implemented.  

Risk Management 
Framework 

Opinion: Amber 

Three recommendations agreed: two medium 
priority and one low.  

Recommendations relate to ensuring that service 
risk registers are fully completed, ensuring roles 
and responsibilities are clear and ensuring an 
appropriate link between corporate and service 
level risk management processes.  
One medium priority recommendation rejected 
relating to staff guidance on the risk register 
template.  

Two recommendations due, one 
implemented. 

One medium priority 
recommendation outstanding – this is 
being monitored by senior 
management through the quarterly 
follow up reports to the council’s 
Management Team. 

IT Security – User 
Access Controls  

Opinion: Amber 

Four recommendations agreed: one high priority 
and three medium.  

Recommendations relate to completion of work 
required for the PSN connection, the updating and 
circulation of IT related policies, and ensuring that 
password re-set options are activated.  

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented.  

Digital 
Transformation 

Opinion: Green.  

One medium priority recommendation agreed.  

Recommendation relates to implementing a 
process for conducting post-implementation 
reviews for all digital transformation projects. 

No recommendations due before 31 
March 2018. 

Legal & Contractual 
Advice 

Opinion: Amber   No recommendations due before 31 
March 2018. 

Page 47



   Page 36 of 38 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of recommendations 
of each priority agreed with management 

Proportion of recommendations due 
for implementation where a positive 

management response has been 
received 

One medium priority recommendation agreed.  

Recommendation relates to creating a suite of 
KPIs; that include all necessary information, and a 
reporting schedule being agreed by senior 
management. 

NNDR Opinion: Green.  

One medium priority recommendation agreed. 

Recommendation relates to consideration of data 
matching between council systems, data sharing 
between departments and ensuring compliance 
with the GDPR. 

No recommendations due before 31 
March 2018. 

Member 
Development 

Opinion: Green.  

One low priority recommendation agreed.  

Recommendation relates to Party Leaders being 
provided with attendance information on a 
quarterly basis. 

No recommendations due before 31 
March 2018. 

 

 
  

Page 48



   Page 37 of 38 

Update on 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud Planned Work  

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget  
Days 
Used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made 

2 Performance Management 
Indicator Verification 

5 N/A Fieldwork Underway A&CF Officers will work with the Corporate Performance team to 
verify the 2017-18 corporate performance information to be 
reported. 

5 Ethics 15 N/A Terms of Reference 
being prepared for 
agreement with 
client 

 

8 NNDR Recovery 15 N/A Fieldwork Underway The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements are in place for the collection of 
unpaid business rates. 

 

15 Procurement Compliance 10 N/A Terms of Reference 
being prepared for 
agreement with 
client 

 

25 Rent Deposit Scheme 10 N/A Fieldwork underway The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 - Arrangements exist to distribute rent deposits. 

RMO2 - Arrangements exist to recover all rent deposits. 

 

28 Counter Fraud Review – 
Residents Parking Permits 

15 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives: 

RMO1 – Adequate procedures are in place to prevent residential 
parking permit fraud. 

P
age 49



   Page 38 of 38 

Definitions of audit opinions 
 

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and objectives 
are being met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements. 

 

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to enable 
the key objectives to be 
met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this. 

 

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations. 

 

 

Recommendation Priorities 

High Action addresses a significant weakness to enable the achievement 
of key objectives. 
 

Medium Action addresses a weakness identified that is not critical to the 
achievement of objectives. 
 

Low Action is a system enhancement or improvement to the efficiency 
of the service.  
 

 

 

Page 50



 

Classification: Part A 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 12 June 2018 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive) 
 

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2017-18 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To inform Members of the outcomes of the External Quality Assessment conducted by 
Gateway Assure in February 2018.  

Recommendations: 

Members are requested to: 

1. Endorse the work already undertaken in relation to recommendations R2, R5, R6, R7, 
R8, R9, R10, R12, R15, R16 and R17, and the proposed actions to be taken by the 
audit & counter fraud team in relation to recommendations R1, R3, R4 and R11.  

 
2. Approve the proposed changes to recommendation priorities as per recommendations 

R13. 
 

3. Provide opinions in relation to recommendation R14 and whether they are happy for 
low priority recommendations to be mentioned in reports rather than formally 
recorded.  

 
1. Background 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that at least once 
every five years, providers of internal audit services must have an External Quality 
Assessment (EQA). This assessment measures the services compliance with the 
PSIAS and provides recommendations for improvement as appropriate. 

1.2 Since 1 March 2016 the council’s internal audit activity has been delivered by the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Meway Council. Based on the five 
year cycle, the service was required to have an EQA conducted during 2017-18. 

2. External Quality Assessment  

2.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was subject to an external quality 
assessment in February 2018, which assessed the services compliance with the 
PSIAS. This was broken down into three key areas;  

Page 51 Agenda Item 6



2 

 Resources: Business Vision and Mission, Governance arrangements, 
Recognition of standards, Guidance, Procedures and Supervision, Terms of 
Engagement, Ethics and business conduct. 
 

 Competency: Charter, Internal Audit Manual, Planning and Allocation of 
staffing, Recruitment (Numbers and skills), Training (Professional and 
Technical), Appraisal and Development. 

 

 Delivery: Client engagement and relationship, Directed led service, Terms of 
Engagement (Audit/Assignment Brief), Discussion of assurance and advisory 
opinions, Reporting at assignment and strategic levels. 

2.2 The assessment outcomes are graded under a Red, Amber Green (RAG) rating 
system and for benchmarking purposes are also allocated a score. These being; 
one for ‘Developing’ (Red), two for ‘Established’ (Amber) and three for 
‘Excelling’ (Green).  

2.3 Benchmarking data provided within the report shows that the average scores 
within the local government sector are 2.5 for Resources, 2 for Competency and 
1.5 for Delivery. This indicates that the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service is 
performing at or above the average levels for its sector.  

 
2.4 The full report of the assessor’s findings can be found at APPENDIX 2 of this 

report. 
 

2.5 While the service is performing well in relation to it compliance with the standards, 
a number of recommendations have been made for further improvement. These 
are categorised as; 

 

 Enhance: The internal audit service must enhance its practice in order to 
demonstrate transparent alignment with the relevant PSIAS in order to 
demonstrate a contribution to the achievement of the organisations objectives 
in relation to risk management, governance and control. 

 

 Review: The Internal audit service should review its approach in this area to 
better reflect the application of the PSIAS. 

 

 Consider: The internal audit service should consider whether revision of its 
approach merits attention in order to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the delivery of services. 

2.6 These recommendations have been entered into a matrix, which can be found at 
APPENDIX 3, which also details; any action already taken by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team, action that will be taken by the team in due course and decisions 
required by Members in order to action recommendations 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

3.1 Nil   

Page 52



3 

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

Legal  The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for 
establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated 
this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal 
audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application 
Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

Finance and Value 
for Money  

An adequate and effective internal audit function provides the council with assurance 
on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have an adverse 
effect on the financial statements of the council. 

Risk Assessment The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team provides a key source of assurance for 
the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control arrangements. 
This work must be conducted in accordance with the PSIAS. 
This report provides assurance to the council in relation to the Audit & Counter Fraud 
team’s level of compliance with the PSIAS 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

4.  a. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No No impact 

b. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper make 
a positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No No impact 

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

 N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above 

Page 53



 

Corporate Business 
Plan 

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council.  
 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense. 
 

Information 
Governance 

There are no direct digital or website implications to this report. 

Safeguarding There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 54



Medway and Gravesham Councils 

Internal Audit Shared Service

External Quality Assessment
February 2018

P
age 55



Purpose of assignment

The Internal Audit service for Medway and Gravesham Councils  is  provided by a shared services team based on the two sites 

under the leadership of James Larkin as Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (HoIA). The team have 

responded to the introduction of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and have increasingly worked to a common 

methodology for delivery of internal audit services since becoming a managed service. Performance against the standards has 

been self-assessed on an annual basis and appropriate reports provided to member authority committee meetings.

The purpose of this review is to provide an external and independent quality review in accordance with standard 1312. We see 

this as not merely a compliance exercise and have also highlighted aspects of the service that we regard as best practice as well 

as summarised our thoughts as to where further development can be made to enhance the value of the service being provided.

The team of twelve staff (which has two current vacancies) has significant experience, with a range of relevant qualifications, 

including PIIA, PINS, IIA and AAT. It has been recognised that there is a need to ensure a consistent approach to delivering 

assurance, as this is beneficial regarding communication with clients, working practices, reporting and therefore associated 

supervision and training needs. At a corporate level, this is established through the presence of an Internal Audit Charter, which 

effectively defines the standards to which the managed service will carry out its work and is supported by a framework of standard 

templates and accepted processes to which the internal audit team work consistently.

The report reflects our opinion regarding the services currently provided as measured against the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS), which we trust will be of benefit to individual staff, the team and the local authority serviced by the Internal 

Audit Service. Our observations and recommendations have been summarised within categories relating to the Resources, 

Competency, and Delivery and the team graded as being at one of three stages within each category, grades are related to our 

opinion as to whether the service is developing, established or excelling.

The outcome has been benchmarked against other provision in both the sector and the wider industry which shows that the team 

compares favourably with regard to its peers.

P
age 56



Executive summary
The internal audit service has responded to the introduction of the managed service arrangement, in which the team are moving

towards a common approach that is consistent with the PSIAS.

The significant change within the PSIAS reflects the focus on a requirement to implement a risk based internal audit approach to

all aspects of internal audit work – significantly in relation to planning at a strategic and assignment level as well as in reporting. 

The service does adopt a risk based approach through the development of its own risk assessment at a  strategic planning level, 

at an assignment level through recognition of risk register content and in testing schedules, although further development would

be beneficial both in terms of recognising inherent risk as identified within Council risk management systems and in terms of

reflecting wider sector risk experience of the internal audit team within audit planning documents and terms of reference.

The Councils have developed risk management frameworks; as a consequence, it would be beneficial for internal audit to 

increasingly align its processes with those of each Council as this would promote effective communication, structure audit work on 

‘what really matters’ and use risk as the basis for reporting. In this respect, we have recommended that future opinions and 

recommendations relate directly to established risk definitions within each Council.

Increasing transparency within the Council systems regarding the inherent risks being faced and upon those controls in place and

assurances available would allow internal audit to clearly define risks and key mitigating controls and therefore provide a robust 

basis for communication with managers and with other assurance providers. 

The internal audit service has benefitted from a period of stability during which staff have remained consistent. The HoIA makes 

use of external support, when appropriate, to ensure delivery of internal audit assurance needs, particularly in relation to IT audit.  

A robust internal audit standard has therefore been maintained and delivered using an experienced team. This has allowed the 

service to  demonstrate compliance with the PSIAS.

Nevertheless, with increasing pressures on Council budgets, significant change to service delivery and as a result increasing risk; 

there is a need for the service to continue to enhance its delivery through greater awareness of the relevance of risk to both the 

Council and its own approach, in order to ensure that it focuses on the most appropriate areas and as a result demonstrates that it 

provides a service that effectively contributes towards the achievement of each Council’s objectives.

P
age 57



Basis for EQA

Compliance with PSIAS

� Resources

Business Vision and Mission, Governance arrangements, 

Recognition of standards, Guidance, Procedures and Supervision, 

Terms of Engagement, Ethics and business conduct.

� Competency

Charter, Internal Audit Manual, Planning and Allocation of staffing, 

Recruitment (Numbers and skills), Training (Professional and 

Technical), Appraisal and Development

� Delivery

Client engagement and relationship, Directed led service, Terms of 

Engagement (Audit/Assignment Brief), Discussion of assurance and 

advisory opinions, Reporting at assignment and strategic levels

P
age 58



Grading of recommendations

� The grading of recommendations is intended to reflect the relative 

importance to the relevant standard within the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards (PSIAS).

� In grading our recommendations, we have considered the wider 

environment within each Council in terms of both the degree of 

transformation that is currently taking place as well as our assessment 

of the level of risk maturity that currently exists as these will have a 

consequence for the conduct of internal audit planning as well as 

subsequent communication.

Recommendation 

grading

Explanation

Enhance The internal audit service must enhance its practice in order to demonstrate 

transparent alignment with the relevant PSIAS in order to demonstrate a 

contribution to the achievement of the organisations objectives in relation to 

risk management, governance and control.

Review The Internal audit service should review its approach in this area to better 

reflect the application of the PSIAS.

Consider The internal audit service should consider whether revision of its approach 

merits attention in order to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the 

delivery of services

P
age 59



Summary of good practice identified 

within EQA

Standard Good practice identified Observation

1000 An Internal Audit Charter has been established and 

agreed with the Audit Committees

The Charter is comprehensive and establishes an appropriate 

framework against which internal audit services can be delivered in 

accordance with the PSIAS.

1312 The service has conducted annual self assessment 

exercises resulting in an annual development plan which 

is reported in the HoIA annual report.

Demonstrates a process and commitment to continuous 

improvement which is considered by Audit Committee

2020 Active engagement at officer and member level Represents the establishment of a good understanding of key 

issues through interaction with positive feedback from officers.

2030 The need for appropriate internal audit resources is 

supported by detailed job profiles

This represents a firm basis for the consideration of the successful 

delivery of the internal audit plan and the use of support from 

external providers.

2040 A detailed internal audit manual is in place and cross 

referenced to PSIAS.

Provides for a consistent methodology, within the service this is 

delivered through a series of templates within which a high 

standard of cross referencing between documents is achieved.

2060 Reports are produced using a standard template which is 

consistently applied. Customer feedback is routinely 

obtained following conduct of an audit.

Demonstration of a consistent approach for communication which 

is well received by management and the Audit Committee –

customer feedback shows 95% satisfaction.

2300 Audits are performed using an approach which is 

consistently applied

This supports a view that the internal audit team understand the 

standard processes, receive supervision and are effectively trained.

2400 Reports are clear and express opinions in a manner that 

is understood by stakeholders. 

Reports are produced on a timely basis, with comprehensive detail 

of internal audit activity being produced for Audit Committee 

attention including detailed key performance indicators.

P
age 60



Resources
Business Vision and Mission, Governance arrangements, Recognition of standards, Guidance, 

Procedures and Supervision, Terms of Engagement, Ethics and business conduct.

Issue identified Recommended action

1 Governance – report approval
Clearance or reports at draft and final stage requires input of 

HoIA, which may not be desirable where reports do not contain 

high risk or contentious issues, 

The HoIA should consider delegating responsibility to team 

leaders in respect of reports that do not contain 

recommendations attracting a high risk level or a limited 

assurance opinion.

P
age 61



Competency
Charter, Internal Audit Manual, Planning and Allocation of staffing, Recruitment (Numbers and 

skills), Training (Professional and Technical), Appraisal and Development

Issue identified Recommended action

1 Internal Audit Planning
Whilst internal audit planning is being increasingly based upon a risk 

model as required by the PSIAS, the process largely depends at 

present on an analytical assessment devised by internal audit; rather 

than reflecting wider risk issues identified by each Council.

There should be a direct and identified link between the internal

audit plan content discussed with Management and the Audit 

Committee and the risk based reasoning for inclusion of the 

assignment in the audit plan. The plan approved should focus on the 

perceived needs of all parties for independent assurance regarding 

key policies, procedures, controls and assurances upon which the 

Council relies.

In turn this should drive preparation of the terms of reference for 

each assignment.

The focus for assignments can therefore be shown to directly relate 

to the value of the ‘control risk’ and as a result an opinion based 

upon the robustness of the controls and assurances available to 

management and each Council.

a.    Audit Plans should be constructed through using an audit needs 

assessment process which achieves the objectives of  

the service as set out in the Internal Audit Charter. The 

audit planning process should be designed to reflect the 

assurance needs of each Council through transparent alignment 

with the Council wide approach to risk management.

The formation of a direct link with the Council’s risk register and 

the key mitigating controls, supported by documented 

discussions with Chief Officers and other managers would 

provide an effective risk based basis for future internal audit 

plans and create increased understanding and ability of 

members of the Audit Committee to contribute to the assurance 

agenda.

It would be beneficial to secure improvements in the maturity of 

each Councils risk management frameworks in order to support 

this initiative.

b. The internal audit planning process should identify and 

document other sources of assurance that are available and 

upon which each Council can place reliance, and which may if 

available be formally recorded within the annual HoIA report and 

subsequently the Governance Statement.

P
age 62



Competency continued

Issue identified Recommended action

2 Audit Manual
The internal audit manual represents a comprehensive record of the 

practices to be followed by internal audit staff and aligns with the 

PSIAS.

The significant emphasis of the PSIAS reflects the use of a risk 

based approach to internal audit work and in this respect it is felt that 

greater alignment with the risk management policies and appetite of 

the Council would be beneficial.

a. The internal audit manual should be updated to reflect greater 

alignment with the risk management policies of the Council.

Consideration should be given to amending the internal audit 

methodology by:

- Including an initial focus on what are the managements 

objectives for the area under review in terms of reference;

- Changing the focus of each audit from identifying a single 

risk management objective to identifying and agreeing with 

management the key risks to which the area under review is 

exposed.

- Identifying, evaluating and testing controls and sources of 

assurance that demonstrate that each residual risk is as 

stated within the Council risk management process

3 Performance and Development Review (PDR)
The annual performance review of the Head of Internal Audit 

Services is to be undertaken by the line manager as S151 Officer at 

Medway Council in accordance with the approved policy.

The PDR process should be informed by inviting the Chairs of 

each Audit Committee and the s151 officer at Gravesham 

Council to provide input to the process.

P
age 63



Delivery
Client engagement and relationship, Directed led service, Terms of Engagement 

(Audit/Assignment Brief), Discussion of assurance and advisory opinions, Reporting at assignment 

and strategic levels

Issue identified Recommended action

1. Assignment Planning
Terms of reference state a date for intended completion of the 

assignment. Whilst it is recognised that there are occasions when 

auditee availability prevents early closure, setting of maximum time 

frames by which draft and final reports should be completed would 

assist in timely completion of reports.

The team does use a generic timeframe in relation to forward planning 

on assignments which provides for standard generic times for 

completion of the stages of an audit. Plan monitoring is undertaken 

against this backcloth.

a) Audits should be planned and supervised within an 

agreed timeframe that is specific to each assignment in 

order to ensure that recommendations are timely.

b) Reporting deadlines should be imposed for the time 

allowed following completion of fieldwork for draft and 

final reports to be received by management.

2. Evidence
Some inconsistencies were identified during the file review with regard 

to the structure of folders and the filing of working papers and evidence.

Notwithstanding, this point the extent of documentation which is 

available to support findings is of a high standard.

Internal Audit staff should be reminded of the approved basis 

for construction of working files and the cross referencing of 

supporting documentation as this supports the efficiency of 

the review process.

P
age 64



Delivery
Client engagement and relationship, Directed led service, Terms of Engagement 

(Audit/Assignment Brief), Discussion of assurance and advisory opinions, Reporting at assignment 

and strategic levels

Issue identified Recommended action

3 Supervision
Demonstration of effective supervision is necessary in order to both 

ensure the quality of the review and provide appropriate instruction to 

staff regarding the delivery of the internal audit methodology.

Whilst it is recognised that the staff can consult each other regarding 

progress on work a common, formal and consistent process should exist 

in order to demonstrate supervision as each audit progresses.

The service should provide a documented trail of supervision

throughout the audit and cross reference to discussions and 

correspondence by email.

It is thought that a record of key interventions could be 

included as review points within the Controls Evaluation 

Matrix (CEM) template as a diary of progress?

4 Closing meetings
The IAM states that exit meetings should be held with clients. 

Wash up meetings are held at end of fieldwork

At present the draft audit report is used as a basis for an exit meeting 

with management.

The HoIA should consider whether in using production of the 

draft report as the basis for the closure meeting this fully 

engages the auditee in the outcomes process.

An exit meeting template could be introduced to support 

communication regarding the findings of the audit however 

Auditors should as a matter of course scan any notes taken 

as part of the exit meeting process in order to support and 

evidence communication and production and finalisation of 

the report. 

P
age 65



Delivery
Client engagement and relationship, Directed led service, Terms of Engagement 

(Audit/Assignment Brief), Discussion of assurance and advisory opinions, Reporting at assignment 

and strategic levels

Issue identified Recommended action

5 Communication

The PSIAS places significant emphasis on effective communication with 

clients. It is therefore beneficial that clients are fully familiar with the 

basis by which recommendations and audit opinions are being made

Definitions for the grading of recommendations and audit 

opinions should be included with in terms of reference 

documents and audit reports.

6 Report clearance
The internal audit manual contains dated instruction regarding the 

process for clearance of reports and would benefit from revision to 

reflect the current structure of the shared services team.

Revision may help reduce current delays in production of reports.

Timescales for the clearance and draft and final reports 

should be reviewed with consideration being given to how 

review and approval can best be recorded. Use of he CEM 

may provide opportunities for simplification of current 

processes.

P
age 66



Delivery continued
Issue identified Recommended action

7 Audit Opinions - Recommendations

These are currently developed and assessed by each internal auditor, 

prior to release of the draft report and which include a grading of the 

recommendations as high, medium and low being made against 

definitions which are generic rather than specific to the Councils risk 

appetite.

Medway

High - The finding highlights a fundamental weakness in the system 

that puts the Council at risk.  Management should prioritise action to 

address this issue.  

Medium - The finding identified a weakness that leaves the system 

open to risk. Management should ensure action is taken to address 

this issue within a reasonable timeframe.  

Low - The finding highlights an opportunity to enhance the system in 

order to increase the efficiency or effectiveness of the control 

environment.  Management should address the issue as resources 

allow.

Gravesham

High – action addresses a significant weakness to enable the 

achievement of key objectives 

Medium – action addresses a weakness identified that is not critical to 

the achievement of objectives

Low – action is a system enhancement or improvement to the 

efficiency of the service

Whilst similar working to different definitions complicates the 

arrangements required by  internal audit regarding training, 

supervision and communication.

a) Risk definitions used by internal audit should be developed 

to reflect the risk appetite within each organisation, and the 

definitions of impact and likelihood used by the Council. 

Explanation of the use of these gradings should be 

included in all reports.

It is recognised best practice to use terminology such as 

High, Medium and Low  or Fundamental, Significant and 

Merits Attention when making recommendations and 

perhaps support this with RAG rated colours linked to each 

Council’s risk management system.

These should be used by each internal auditor to grade the 

recommendation and discuss the level of risk to which the 

organisation is exposed with each auditee at the exit 

meeting by reference to the risk impact definitions used 

within the Council.

A single approach should be deployed across both 

Councils.

b)    Consideration should be given to removing the need to 

include ‘low’ rated recommendations in formal audit 

reports; alternatively reflecting on these in discussion at 

the closure meeting and confirmed in a side letter or email 

to the manager. This would aid the profile of internal audit 

through concentrating on things that really matter in 

relation to significant risk as defined within risk 

management policies. 

P
age 67



Delivery
Client engagement and relationship, Directed led service, Terms of Engagement 

(Audit/Assignment Brief), Discussion of assurance and advisory opinions, Reporting at assignment 

and strategic levels

Issue identified Recommended action

8 Finalisation of reports

At the time of the review the Shared Service had finalised relatively few 

audit reports in relation to 2017/18; the position is likely to relate to a 

number of factors being:

- Overrun of 2016/17 audits,

- Structure and staff changes,

- Delays in receiving appropriate feedback from clients at planning and 

closure stages,

- Current processes which reflect review of audit at draft report stage 

rather than on a continuous basis.

The HoIA should review processes for managing completion 

of reports with a view to presenting reports on a timely basis. 

Consideration could be given to:

- Introducing target completion dates at the start of the 

audit.

- Agreeing exit meeting dates at the initial meetings with 

clients,

- Amending report authorisation 

P
age 68



Delivery continued

Issue identified Recommended action

9 Audit Opinions - Overall opinions  
These are currently based upon the personal judgement of each 

auditor, relating to the degree of  risk, although the definition of high 

risk is not related to that stated to each the Councils Risk 

Management Strategy and is subject to review by the supervisor and 

HoIA in the draft report prior to release. The overall opinion is based 

largely on the aggregate of the number of recommendations.

The internal audit service currently uses different categories opinion 

at each Council being:

Medway

Strong - Appropriate controls are in place and working effectively, 

maximising the likelihood of achieving service objectives and 

minimising the council’s risk exposure. 

Sufficient - Control arrangements ensure that all critical risks are 

appropriately mitigated, but further action is required to minimise the 

council’s risk exposure. 

Need strengthening - There are one or more failings in the control 

process that leave the council exposed to an unacceptable level of 

risk. 

Weak - There are widespread or major failings in the control 

environment that leave the council exposed to significant likelihood 

of critical risk. Urgent remedial action is required. 

Gravesham

Green – Risk management operates effectively and objectives are 

met 

Amber – Key risks being managed to enable the key objectives to 

be met 

Red – Risk management arrangements require improvement to 

ensure objectives can be met.

a) The grading of reports should be based upon the level of 

risk exposure identified within the review and reflect the 

highest  ranked recommendation being reported upon.

Best practice would reflect:

- Where a fundamental risk (red) is identified that limited 

assurance is given.

- Where significant risks (amber) are identified then 

adequate assurance is given, and

- Where ‘merits attention’ (green) risks are identified these 

are not referred to in the report and substantial 

assurance is given.

An example basis for arriving at opinions is included as 

Appendix B.

P
age 69



Delivery continued

Issue identified Recommended action

9 Audit Opinions - Overall opinions  (cont)

Wider best practice provides for three levels of opinion being 

substantial, adequate (reasonable) or limited as this provides a clear 

indication to stakeholders of the level of assurance that can be 

gained. This opinion can then be aligned directly with the nature of 

the risks being identified and the grading of those recommendations 

being made.

By having two basis for opinions this provides unnecessary 

complication within the internal audit service and the approach 

should be simplified to represent best practice and therefore 

contribute to better communication regarding the risks being faced 

by each Council.

P
age 70



Delivery continued
Issue identified Recommended action

10 Annual Report

The HoIA produces an Annual Internal Audit report which summarises 

the years work and includes analysis of performance. The opinion 

should reflect a format that takes account of all information and 

sources of assurance available to the HoIA and therefore:

‘must also include significant risk exposures and control issues, 

including fraud risks, governance issues, and other matters needed or 

requested by senior management and the board’.

The Internal Audit Charter  reflects this guidance and states in section 

3 (p3)  that:

“In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of 

Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit Executive) will report annually 

with an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 

framework of governance, risk management and control of each 

council, supporting the Annual Governance Statement and 

Statement of Accounts”.

The HoIA Annual Audit Report qualifies this opinion by referring to 

“My opinion is therefore limited to the risk areas considered in the 

services and functions that have been subject to review in the year”.

In alignment with recommendations made earlier, the internal 

audit plan should be constructed to provide an explicit link to 

risk and the other assurances available, so that the HoIA is able 

to provide wider assurance to the Council in support of the 

governance statement. 

Best practice is that the Annual Report should also contain 

reference to all significant risks (standard 2060) and therefore 

co-ordination with and an understanding of issues being raised 

by the range of assurance sources available is essential in 

order to meet this broader scope.

An example of the words which may be used has been 

provided in Appendix C.

P
age 71



Summary stakeholder feedback

Question A B C D

Purpose � � � �

Understanding of Council requirements � � � �

Adequate assurance provided � � � �

Independence with contact outside of meetings � � � �

Status � � � �

Experience, skills and effective communication � � � �

Effective performance � � � �

Effective planning and priorities � � � �

Other relevant observations

a) Good contact with S151 on a regular basis 

b) Good working relationship with officers within the Council

c) Should HoIA report to S151 or an officer with wider responsibilities within governance 

structure?

d) Need to embed risk management throughout the Council

e) Contact with the HoIA outside of the Committee process does occur including pre-

meetings before Committee

f) The council is committed to developing these skills  through training and encouraging 

professional qualifications

g) Meets and exceeds deadlines

P
age 72



Overall assessment

1 RESOURCES Excelling – Processes in this area are fully 

embedded within every day practices and reflect 

best practice that is at least consistent with 

PSIAS expectations.

2 COMPETENCY Established – Processes in this area are 

embedded within every day practices, the EQA 

has identified a number of areas in which further 

development is desirable. 

3 DELIVERY Established – Processes in this area are 

embedded within every day practices, the EQA 

has identified a number of areas in which further 

development is desirable.

P
age 73



Benchmarking 

Sector analysis

0

1

2

3

Resources Competency Delivery

Local Government

MGIASS

Housing

Private

All

Achievement level

1 - Developing

2 - Established

3 - Excelling

P
age 74



Benchmarking 

Industry analysis

0

1

2

3

100011002010202020302040205020602200230024002450

Local Government

MGIASS

Achievement level

1 - Developing

2 - Established

3 - Excelling

P
age 75



Key PSIAS Standards assessed
(for benchmarking purposes)

Stan

dard

Focus

1000 Purpose, Authority and 

Responsibility

The purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be formally defined in an internal audit charter,

consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Standards. The chief audit executive must 

periodically review the internal audit charter and present it to senior management and the board for approval.

1100 Independence and 

Objectivity

The internal audit activity must be independent, and internal auditors must be objective in performing their work.

2010 Planning The chief audit executive must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with 

the organisation’s goals. 

2020 Communication and 

approval

The chief audit executive must communicate the internal audit activity’s plans and resource requirements, including significant 

interim changes, to senior management and the board for review and approval. The chief audit executive must also communicate 

the impact of resource limitations. 

2030 Resource Management The chief audit executive must ensure that internal audit resources are appropriate, sufficient, and effectively deployed to achieve 

the approved plan. 

2040 Policies The chief audit executive must establish policies and procedures to guide the internal audit activity. 

2050 Co-ordination The chief audit executive should share information and coordinate activities with other internal and external providers of 

assurance and consulting services to ensure proper coverage and minimize duplication of efforts.

2060 Reporting The chief audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 

authority, responsibility, and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and control 

issues, including fraud risks, governance issues, and other matters needed or requested by senior management and the board.

2200 Engagement planning Internal auditors must develop and document a plan for each engagement, including the engagement’s objectives, scope, timing,

and resource allocations.

2300 Work programme Internal auditors must identify, analyse, evaluate, and document sufficient information to achieve the engagement’s objectives. 

2400 Communicating results Internal auditors must communicate the results of engagements

2450 Overall opinions When an overall opinion is issued, it must take into account the expectations of senior management, the board, and other 

stakeholders and must be supported by sufficient, reliable, relevant, and useful information. 

P
age 76



� The internal audit provision within Medway and Gravesham Councils complies with the expectations of the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards.

� The service receives positive feedback from the Audit Committee and Executive Management.

� There are a number of areas in which the service can be further improved in relation to the use of risk based auditing which 

will provide increased levels of assurance to the Councils and assist in improving its profile as well as the subsequent 

feedback that is received from clients:

- the service should continue to move to an approach that reflects full recognition of the risk factors 

recognised by each Council both at a strategic planning level and when conducting assignments, although this is to an 

extent dependent on further embedding risk management at operational levels.

- the annual internal audit plan should be compiled on the basis of the Councils risk register and documented 

discussions with Chief Officers rather than the current analytical approach.

- the use of opinions should be reviewed to better reflect the risk appetite of the Council and should reflect identification 

and escalation of recommendations graded as high that match risk definitions graded as ‘red’ or ‘amber’ within the risk 

management system.

- the Annual Report of the HoIA should be enhanced to reflect the Internal Audit Charter and assurance related to 

awareness of the significant risks being faced by the Council.

� The further development of risk management systems within both Councils to reflect an Assurance Framework would enable 

greater recognition of key mitigating controls and the other sources of assurance with which internal audit effort should be 

co-ordinated in order to support the Governance Statements process.

� Some revisions to the internal audit processes may be beneficial in terms of improving efficiency and transparency of the 

assurance being provided. 

Conclusion

P
age 77



Appendix A

P
age 78



Appendix B

- an example ‘Basis for opinions’

P
age 79



Appendix C

Example wording for positive annual opinion 
As the internal audit service provider to the organisation, I am required as the Head of Internal Audit to provide the organisation and 

the Chief Executive with a statement on the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 

governance processes.  

In giving an opinion it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute.  The most that the internal audit service can provide to 

the organisation is a reasonable assurance there are no major weaknesses in the organisation’s risk management, control and 

governance processes.

In assessing the level of assurance to be given, the following have been taken into account::

� All audits undertaken during the year;

� Any follow-up action taken in respect of audits from previous periods;

� Significant recommendations not accepted by management or acted upon and the consequent risks;

� The effects of any significant changes in the organisation’s objectives or systems;

� Matters arising from previous reports to the organisation;

� Any limitations which may have been placed on the scope of internal audit;

� The extent to which resources constraints may impinge on the Head of Internal Audit's ability to meet the full audit needs of the 

organisation;

� What proportion of the organisation’s audit need has been covered to date; and

� The results of work performed by other assurance providers including the work of the financial statement auditors (if applicable).

We are satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow us to draw a reasonable conclusion as to the 

adequacy and effectiveness (or inadequacy and ineffectiveness) of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance 

processes.

Overall in our opinion, based upon the reviews performed during the year, the organisation:

� has adequate and effective risk management arrangements;

� has adequate and effective governance; and

� has adequate and effective control processes.

P
age 80



APPENDIX 2 

1 
 

Issue identified Recommended action Grading  Comments/Actions to address 
recommendation 

Governance – report approval 
Clearance or reports at draft and final stage 
requires input of HoIA, which may not be 
desirable where reports do not contain high 
risk or contentious issues,  

R1 The HoIA should consider delegating responsibility to 
team leaders in respect of reports that do not contain 
recommendations attracting a high risk level or a limited 
assurance opinion. 

Consider REJECTED: Team Leaders already conduct all 
reviews of both draft and final reports but 
each is subject to a quality check from the 
HoIA&CF before issue. 
While there may be a minor efficiency saving 
in allowing the Team Leaders to issue reports 
with positive opinions and low risk levels, this 
is not felt to be sufficient to justify removing 
the level of quality control. In addition, the 
HoIA needs to be aware of the opinions 
issued in respect of individual reviews in order 
to be able to answer queries from services 
and Members. 

Internal Audit Planning 
Whilst internal audit planning is being 
increasingly based upon a risk model as 
required by the PSIAS, the process largely 
depends at present on an analytical 
assessment devised by internal audit; rather 
than reflecting wider risk issues identified by 
each Council. 
There should be a direct and identified link 
between the internal audit plan content 
discussed with Management and the Audit 
Committee and the risk based reasoning for 
inclusion of the assignment in the audit plan. 
The plan approved should focus on the 
perceived needs of all parties for independent 
assurance regarding key policies, procedures, 
controls and assurances upon which the 
Council relies. 
In turn this should drive preparation of the 
terms of reference for each assignment. 
The focus for assignments can therefore be 
shown to directly relate to the value of the 
‘control risk’ and as a result an opinion based 

R2 Audit Plans should be constructed through using an audit 
needs assessment process which achieves the objectives 
of the service as set out in the Internal Audit Charter. The 
audit planning process should be designed to reflect the 
assurance needs of each Council through transparent 
alignment with the Council wide approach to risk 
management. 
The formation of a direct link with the Council’s risk 
register and the key mitigating controls, supported by 
documented discussions with Chief Officers and other 
managers would provide an effective risk based basis for 
future internal audit plans and create increased 
understanding and ability of members of the Audit 
Committee to contribute to the assurance agenda. 
It would be beneficial to secure improvements in the 
maturity of each Councils risk management frameworks 
in order to support this initiative. 
 
 

Review 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPLEMENTED: An Audit Needs Assessment 
(ANA) is already conducted in respect of each 
authority, which take into account the 
respective corporate risk registers; however, 
it is acknowledged that the risk based 
reasoning for including specific reviews within 
the annual plan could be better documented. 
It is also acknowledged that input should be 
sought from Chief Officers/Directors/Assistant 
Directors and Service Managers. Individual 
Directorates will be approached as part of the 
planning process for 2019-20 onwards. 

R3 The internal audit planning process should identify and 
document other sources of assurance that are available 
and upon which each Council can place reliance, and 
which may if available be formally recorded within the 

Review An Assurance Mapping exercise will be 
undertaken to identify other sources of 
assurance that may be available outside of 
the activities undertaken by internal audit. 

P
age 81



 

2 
 

upon the robustness of the controls and 
assurances available to management and each 
Council. 

annual HoIA report and subsequently the Governance 
Statement. 

Any assurance sources identified will be 
reflected in future opinions. 

Audit Manual 
The internal audit manual represents a 
comprehensive record of the practices to be 
followed by internal audit staff and aligns with 
the PSIAS. 
The significant emphasis of the PSIAS reflects 
the use of a risk based approach to internal 
audit work and in this respect it is felt that 
greater alignment with the risk management 
policies and appetite of the Council would be 
beneficial. 
 

R4 The internal audit manual should be updated to reflect 
greater alignment with the risk management policies of 
the Council. 
Consideration should be given to amending the internal 
audit methodology by: 

- Including an initial focus on what are the 
managements objectives for the area under review 
in terms of reference; 

- Changing the focus of each audit from identifying a 
single risk management objective to identifying and 
agreeing with management the key risks to which 
the area under review is exposed. 

- Identifying, evaluating and testing controls and 
sources of assurance that demonstrate that each 
residual risk is as stated within the Council risk 
management process 

 

Review 
 
 

A preliminary risk assessment is conducted at 
the start of each review assignment and 
forms the basis of the Terms of Reference. 
This focuses on management objectives and 
the risks to achieving those objectives (along 
with other considerations required by the 
PSIAS). 
It is acknowledged that the Risk Management 
Objectives that form part of the reviews could 
be better linked to risks identified in the 
service risk registers and this will be 
addressed going forward. 
It should however be noted that this is 
dependent upon the risk maturity of the 
individual service.   
 

Performance and Development Review (PDR) 
The annual performance review of the Head 
of Internal Audit Services is to be undertaken 
by the line manager as S151 Officer at 
Medway Council in accordance with the 
approved policy. 
 

R5 The PDR process should be informed by inviting the 
Chairs of each Audit Committee and the s151 officer at 
Gravesham Council to provide input to the process. 
 

Consider 
 

IMPLEMENTED: The S.151 Officer at 
Gravesham already provides an input into the 
PDR process of the HoIA&CF. 
Opinions/comments will also be sought from 
the Chairs of the respective committees in 
future.  

Assignment Planning 
Terms of reference state a date for intended 
completion of the assignment. Whilst it is 
recognised that there are occasions when 
auditee availability prevents early closure, 
setting of maximum time frames by which 
draft and final reports should be completed 
would assist in timely completion of reports. 
The team does use a generic timeframe in 
relation to forward planning on assignments 
which provides for standard generic times for 

R6 Audits should be planned and supervised within an 
agreed timeframe that is specific to each assignment in 
order to ensure that recommendations are timely. 
 

Consider 
 

IMPLEMENTED: Target timescales for audit 
assignments are already in place and 
monitored by the A&CF management team, 
who meet on a weekly basis to assess 
progress in relation to all assignments. It 
should be noted that some of these 
timescales are dependent upon the client as 
well as the officer undertaking the review. 
The Terms of Reference template has now 
been updated to specify the target timescales 
and to clarify that the officer conducting the 

P
age 82



 

3 
 

completion of the stages of an audit. Plan 
monitoring is undertaken against this 
backcloth. 
 

review and the client need to work together 
to meet those targets.   

R7 Reporting deadlines should be imposed for the time 
allowed following completion of fieldwork for draft and 
final reports to be received by management. 

Consider IMPLEMENTED: As per the comment above, 
there are already target timescales in place 
that are monitored on a weekly basis. 

Evidence 
Some inconsistencies were identified during 
the file review with regard to the structure of 
folders and the filing of working papers and 
evidence. 
Notwithstanding, this point the extent of 
documentation which is available to support 
findings is of a high standard. 
 

R8 Internal Audit staff should be reminded of the approved 
basis for construction of working files and the cross 
referencing of supporting documentation as this supports 
the efficiency of the review process. 
 

Review 
 

IMPLEMENTED: Members of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team have now been advised 
of the need to ensure that there is 
consistency with the construction and storing 
of working files.  
A folder structure has already been set for 
2018-19 to ensure that each review is 
recorded, and evidence stored, in the same 
manner.  

Supervision  
Demonstration of effective supervision is 
necessary in order to both ensure the quality 
of the review and provide appropriate 
instruction to staff regarding the delivery of 
the internal audit methodology. 
Whilst it is recognised that the staff can 
consult each other regarding progress on work 
a common, formal and consistent process 
should exist in order to demonstrate 
supervision as each audit progresses. 
 

R9 The service should provide a documented trail of 
supervision throughout the audit and cross reference to 
discussions and correspondence by email. 
It is thought that a record of key interventions could be 
included as review points within the Controls Evaluation 
Matrix (CEM) template as a diary of progress? 
 

Review 
 

IMPLEMENTED: The Controls Evaluation 
Matrix template has now been updated to 
incorporate a supervision log to record the 
key dates and any comments as part of the 
quality control process. 
 

Closing meetings 
The IAM states that exit meetings should be 
held with clients.  
Wash up meetings are held at end of 
fieldwork 
At present the draft audit report is used as a 
basis for an exit meeting with management. 
 

R10 The HoIA should consider whether in using production of 
the draft report as the basis for the closure meeting this 
fully engages the auditee in the outcomes process. 
An exit meeting template could be introduced to support 
communication regarding the findings of the audit 
however Auditors should as a matter of course scan any 
notes taken as part of the exit meeting process in order to 
support and evidence communication and production and 
finalisation of the report.  
 

Consider 
 

IMPLEMENTED: A section has also been 
added to the CEM template on which officers 
are required to record the outcomes of the 
wash up meeting; a prompt has also been 
added to clarify the areas that should be 
discussed at the wash up meeting. 

Communication 
The PSIAS places significant emphasis on 

R11 Definitions for the grading of recommendations and audit 
opinions should be included with in terms of reference 

Review 
 

Definitions of Audit Opinions have always 
been included at the end of reports issued. 

P
age 83



 

4 
 

effective communication with clients. It is 
therefore beneficial that clients are fully 
familiar with the basis by which 
recommendations and audit opinions are 
being made 

documents and audit reports. 
 

Definitions of recommendation grading will 
be added to all template documents once the 
proposed updates noted in R13 are agreed or 
rejected.   

Report clearance 
The internal audit manual contains dated 
instruction regarding the process for clearance 
of reports and would benefit from revision to 
reflect the current structure of the shared 
services team. 
Revision may help reduce current delays in 
production of reports. 
 

R12 Timescales for the clearance and draft and final reports 
should be reviewed with consideration being given to 
how review and approval can best be recorded. Use of 
the CEM may provide opportunities for simplification of 
current processes. 
 

Consider 
 

IMPLEMENTED: Report clearance already 
takes place via email, records of which are 
retained in the respective audit files.  
To further support this, we have now added a 
supervision log to the Control Evaluation 
Matrix template to record the key dates and 
any comments as part of the quality control 
process.  

Audit Opinions - Recommendations  
These are currently developed and assessed 
by each internal auditor, prior to release of 
the draft report and which include a grading 
of the recommendations as high, medium and 
low being made against definitions which are 
generic rather than specific to the Councils 
risk appetite. 
Medway 
High - The finding highlights a fundamental 
weakness in the system that puts the Council 
at risk.  Management should prioritise action 
to address this issue.   
Medium - The finding identified a weakness 
that leaves the system open to risk. 
Management should ensure action is taken to 
address this issue within a reasonable 
timeframe.   
Low - The finding highlights an opportunity to 
enhance the system in order to increase the 
efficiency or effectiveness of the control 
environment.  Management should address 
the issue as resources allow. 
Gravesham 

R13 Risk definitions used by internal audit should be 
developed to reflect the risk appetite within each 
organisation, and the definitions of impact and likelihood 
used by the Council. Explanation of the use of these 
gradings should be included in all reports. 
It is recognised best practice to use terminology such as 
High, Medium and Low or Fundamental, Significant and 
Merits Attention when making recommendations and 
perhaps support this with RAG rated colours linked to 
each Council’s risk management system. 
These should be used by each internal auditor to grade 
the recommendation and discuss the level of risk to which 
the organisation is exposed with each auditee at the exit 
meeting by reference to the risk impact definitions used 
within the Council. 
A single approach should be deployed across both 
Councils. 
 

Review 
 

While both councils already use the grading of 
High, Medium and Low priority for 
recommendations, the accompanying 
definitions for each are different.  
The first two tables at page 8 of this 
document show the existing priority grading 
and definitions used by each council. 
The third table shows the proposed aligned 
definitions to be used by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service in line with this 
recommendation.  
The priority levels also have a colour coding in 
line with the Red, Amber Green (RAG) rating 
system. 
Member’s approval is sought to use the 
updated and aligned recommendation 
priorities, which will be included with all 
future reports.  
 

R14 Consideration should be given to removing the need to 
include ‘low’ rated recommendations in formal audit 
reports; alternatively reflecting on these in discussion at 
the closure meeting and confirmed in a side letter or 
email to the manager. This would aid the profile of 

Consider 
 

Any amendment to the follow up process at 
either authority will need to be discussed and 
approved by the respective Management 
Team and Audit Committee. 
The views of each management team and 

P
age 84



 

5 
 

High – action addresses a significant weakness 
to enable the achievement of key objectives  
Medium – action addresses a weakness 
identified that is not critical to the 
achievement of objectives 
Low – action is a system enhancement or 
improvement to the efficiency of the service 
Whilst similar working to different definitions 
complicates the arrangements required by 
internal audit regarding training, supervision 
and communication. 
 
 

internal audit through concentrating on things that really 
matter in relation to significant risk as defined within risk 
management policies. 

Audit Committee Members will be sought to 
determine whether they wish to remove low 
priority recommendations from formal 
reports in favour of advisory notes within 
those same reports.   

Finalisation of reports 
At the time of the review the Shared Service 
had finalised relatively few audit reports in 
relation to 2017/18; the position is likely to 
relate to a number of factors being: 
- Overrun of 2016/17 audits, 
- Structure and staff changes, 
- Delays in receiving appropriate 
feedback from clients at planning and closure 
stages, 
- Current processes which reflect 
review of audit at draft report stage rather 
than on a continuous basis. 
 

R15 The HoIA should review processes for managing 
completion of reports with a view to presenting reports 
on a timely basis. Consideration could be given to: 

- Introducing target completion dates at the start of 
the audit. 

- Agreeing exit meeting dates at the initial meetings 
with clients, 

- Amending report authorisation  
 

Review IMPLEMENTED: Target timescales for audit 
assignments, including the issue and 
finalisation of reports are already in place.  
Finalisation of audit reports is dependent 
upon responses from clients, the speed of 
which are often influenced by the resource 
demands within individual services and 
therefore outside the control of the A&CF 
team.  
As per the comments in relation to R6 and R7, 
we have updated the Terms of Reference 
template to specify the target timescales and 
to clarify that the officer conducting the 
review and the client need to work together 
to meet those targets.   

Audit Opinions - Overall opinions   
These are currently based upon the personal 
judgement of each auditor, relating to the 
degree of  risk, although the definition of high 
risk is not related to that stated to each the 
Councils Risk Management Strategy and is 
subject to review by the supervisor and HoIA 
in the draft report prior to release. The overall 
opinion is based largely on the aggregate of 
the number of recommendations. 

R16 The grading of reports should be based upon the level of 
risk exposure identified within the review and reflect the 
highest ranked recommendation being reported upon. 
Best practice would reflect: 

- Where a fundamental risk (red) is identified that 
limited assurance is given. 

- Where significant risks (amber) are identified then 
adequate assurance is given, and 

- Where ‘merits attention’ (green) risks are identified 
these are not referred to in the report and 

Review The assessor has indicated that Wider best 
practice suggests three levels of assurance in 
the opinion structure.  
As per the findings outlined, Medway 
currently operates a four tier opinion 
structure while Gravesham operates with a 
three tier opinion structure based on the RAG 
rating system. The two tables on page 9 of 
this document show the opinions and 
definitions currently used by each council.  

P
age 85



 

6 
 

The internal audit service currently uses 
different categories opinion at each Council 
being: 
Medway 
Strong - Appropriate controls are in place and 
working effectively, maximising the likelihood 
of achieving service objectives and minimising 
the council’s risk exposure.  
Sufficient - Control arrangements ensure that 
all critical risks are appropriately mitigated, 
but further action is required to minimise the 
council’s risk exposure.  
Need strengthening - There are one or more 
failings in the control process that leave the 
council exposed to an unacceptable level of 
risk.  
Weak - There are widespread or major failings 
in the control environment that leave the 
council exposed to significant likelihood of 
critical risk. Urgent remedial action is 
required.  
Gravesham 
Green – Risk management operates 
effectively and objectives are met  
Amber – Key risks being managed to enable 
the key objectives to be met  
Red – Risk management arrangements require 
improvement to ensure objectives can be met. 
 
Wider best practice provides for three levels 
of opinion being substantial, adequate 
(reasonable) or limited as this provides a clear 
indication to stakeholders of the level of 
assurance that can be gained. This opinion can 
then be aligned directly with the nature of the 
risks being identified and the grading of those 
recommendations being made. 
By having two bases for opinions this provides 

substantial assurance is given. 
- An example basis for arriving at opinions is included 

as Appendix B. 
 

As the RAG rating system is recognised 
nationally and is also widely used by various 
auditing bodies, It is proposed that Medway 
council adopt the RAG rating opinion 
structure used by Gravesham.   
A Strong opinion would equate to Green 
while Sufficient and Needs Strengthening 
would equate to Amber and Weak would 
equate to Red. 
This would be more in line with best practice, 
provides a more constructive and detailed 
definition of the opinion and will also provide 
an aligned approach at both councils, which in 
turn would be easier to manage under the 
shared working arrangements. 
Approval is sought from the Members of 
Medway’s Audit Committee to change the 
opinion structure to a RAG rating system. 

P
age 86



 

7 
 

unnecessary complication within the internal 
audit service and the approach should be 
simplified to represent best practice and 
therefore contribute to better communication 
regarding the risks being faced by each 
Council. 
 
 

Annual Report 
The HoIA produces an Annual Internal Audit 
report which summarises the years work and 
includes analysis of performance. The opinion 
should reflect a format that takes account of 
all information and sources of assurance 
available to the HoIA  and therefore: 
‘must also include significant risk exposures 
and control issues, including fraud risks, 
governance issues, and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the 
board’. 
The Internal Audit Charter  reflects this 
guidance and states in section 3 (p3)  that: 
 “In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud 
(as Chief Audit Executive) will report annually 
with an opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management and control of 
each council, supporting the Annual 
Governance Statement and Statement of 
Accounts”. 
The HoIA Annual Audit Report qualifies this 
opinion by referring to “My opinion is 
therefore limited to the risk areas considered 
in the services and functions that have been 
subject to review in the year”. 
 

R17 In alignment with recommendations made earlier, the 
internal audit plan should be constructed to provide an 
explicit link to risk and the other assurances available, so 
that the HoIA is able to provide wider assurance to the 
Council in support of the governance statement.  
Best practice is that the Annual Report should also 
contain reference to all significant risks (standard 2060) 
and therefore co-ordination with and an understanding of 
issues being raised by the range of assurance sources 
available is essential in order to meet this broader scope. 
An example of the words which may be used has been 
provided in Appendix C. 
 

Enhance 
 

IMPLEMENTED: The annual opinion within the 
2017-18 annual reports for each council have 
been prepared, taking into account the 
recommendation and some of the wording 
provided as an example at Appendix B of the 
EQA report.  
It now reflects that assurance has been drawn 
from reviews conducted internally and those 
carried out by other assurance providers. 

 

P
age 87



 

8 
 

Recommendation Priorities  

Medway  
High The finding highlights a fundamental weakness in the system that puts the Council at risk.  Management should 

prioritise action to address this issue. 

Medium The finding identified a weakness that leaves the system open to risk. Management should ensure action is taken to 
address this issue within a reasonable timeframe. 

Low The finding highlights an opportunity to enhance the system in order to increase the efficiency or effectiveness of the 
control environment.  Management should address the issue as resources allow. 

 

Gravesham 
High Action addresses a significant weakness to enable the achievement of key objectives. 

 

Medium Action addresses a weakness identified that is not critical to the achievement of objectives. 
 

Low Action is a system enhancement or improvement to the efficiency of the service.  
 

 

Proposed aligned recommendation priorities 
High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the council exposed to significant risk. The 

recommended action addresses the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the achievement of 
key objectives. Management should address the recommendation as a matter of urgency.  
 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with existing controls, that leaves the system open to 
risk, although it is not critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the recommendation 
within a reasonable timeframe. 
 

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or effectiveness of the system/control 
environment. Management should address the recommendation as resources allow.  
 

  

P
age 88



 

9 
 

Audit Opinions  

Medway 
Strong Appropriate controls are in place and working effectively, maximising the likelihood of achieving service objectives and 

minimising the council’s risk exposure.   
 

Sufficient Control arrangements ensure that all critical risks are appropriately mitigated, but further action is required to 
minimise the council’s risk exposure. 
 

Needs Strengthening There are one or more failings in the control process that leave the council exposed to an unacceptable level of risk.   
 

Weak There are widespread or major failings in the control environment that leave the council exposed to significant 
likelihood of critical risk.  Urgent remedial action is required. 
 

 

Gravesham 

Green – Risk management 
operates effectively and 
objectives are being met  

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well managed and the service objectives are being met. 
Any errors found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be isolated. Recommendations made are 
considered to be opportunities to enhance existing arrangements. 

 

Amber – Key risks are being 
managed to enable the key 
objectives to be met  

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally complied with ensuring significant risks are 
adequately managed and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure to comply with controls or 
errors / omissions have been identified. Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls have been 
identified and recommendations have been made to improve this. 

 

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met  

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or 
there is evidence of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered to be effective and the service 
risks failing to meet its objectives, significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, improve compliance with existing controls or improve 
the efficiency of operations. 

 

 

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18: Finance & Audit Committee (12 June 2018)

Classification:  Part 1 – Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 12 June 2018

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Governance Statement: 2017-18

Purpose and summary of report: 

To seek approval from Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of the Annual 
Governance Statement for the 2017-18 financial year.

Recommendations:
1. Members note the findings of the review of the council’s governance arrangements for 

2017-18.
2. Members approve and support the Annual Governance Statement for the 2017-18 

financial year.

1. Background

1.1 In 2016 the council’s Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) was subject to 
review to ensure the council’s arrangements are consistent with the core 
principles as set out in the ‘Delivering Good Governance’ framework, published by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) and the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE). The council’s new Code was adopted by 
Full Council in February 2017.

1.2 To assess compliance with the Code, the council is required to conduct an annual 
review of the effectiveness of its governance framework and system of internal 
control. The results of this review, carried out in line with the core principles of the 
Code, inform the production of the council’s Annual Governance Statement, 
presented as part of the Statement of Accounts.

1.3 The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is therefore intended to be a public 
assurance statement representing the governance and internal control 
arrangements adopted by the council. Following its approval by the Finance and 
Audit Committee, the AGS is required to be signed by the most senior officer and 
most senior Member of the authority.

Page 91 Agenda Item 7



Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18: Finance & Audit Committee (12 June 2018)

2. Review of Governance Arrangements

2.1 The review of the council’s 2017-18 governance arrangements was conducted by 
the Corporate Performance Manager in accordance with the principles adopted by 
the council’s Code of Corporate Governance, itself a framework designed upon 
the guidance issued by CIPFA/SOLACE. 

2.2 As part of this review, assurance of the effective operation of the council’s 
governance arrangements has been sought from a number of sources. All source 
material, including the results of the review itself, are itemised at appendix two of 
this report and have been previously shared with Members of the Committee.

2.3 The review established that the authority does have adequate governance 
arrangements in place; whilst no significant issues have been identified, the 
review has highlighted some opportunities to further develop and strengthen the 
council’s governance and internal control environment.

2.4 Members are asked to note the findings of the review of the council’s governance 
arrangements for 2017-18.

3. Annual Governance Statement 2017-18

3.1 The Annual Governance Statement for 2017-18 has been prepared based on the 
findings of the review of governance arrangements.  A copy of the statement, 
including a relevant suite of actions for consideration, is attached at appendix 
three to this report.

3.2 Members are requested to approve and support the Annual Governance 
Statement for the 2017-18 financial year.

4. Background Papers

4.1    Background papers relating to this report are:

 Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: CIPFA/SOLACE 2016;

 Code of Corporate Governance: Gravesham Borough Council; and

 Annual Review of Governance Arrangements 2017-18 (and all supporting 
information itemised at Appendix Two to this report): Gravesham Borough 
Council

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 92



Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18: Finance & Audit Committee (12 June 2018)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 

Legal The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 place a statutory requirement on 
authorities to conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of its 
system of internal control and to prepare an annual governance statement in 
accordance with proper practice in relation to internal control.  Proper practice has 
been defined as that set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’, 
published by CIPFA/SOLACE.  The review referred to in this report and the AGS 
have both been prepared with due consideration of this proper practice.

Assurances are sought from the Monitoring Officer in relation to ensuring all legal 
functions have been undertaken during the financial year.
The Monitoring Officer is also a member of the AGS Assurance Group and, as 
such, comments made by the Monitoring Officer have been taken into account in 
drafting the Annual Governance Statement.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There is a statutory requirement for the Annual Governance Statement to 
accompany the Statement of Accounts.  Therefore it is intended that the draft 
statement is presented to the Finance & Audit Committee for approval so that it can 
ultimately be presented alongside the Statement of Accounts.

Assurances are sought from the Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer in 
relation to ensuring all financial functions have been undertaken during the financial 
year.
The Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer is also a member of the AGS 
Assurance Group and, as such, comments made by the Chief Financial 
Officer/Section 151 Officer have been taken into account in drafting the Annual 
Governance Statement.   

Risk 
Assessment

Failure to approve the Annual Governance Statement could expose the authority to 
the risk of receiving a qualified opinion on the Statement of Accounts.
The purpose of the governance review is to identify any potential areas of 
weakness or areas of further improvement, in order to minimise the risk facing the 
council in these areas.  Failure to take action in relation to the issues identified at 
section five of the Annual Governance Statement would have a negative effect on 
the continuous development of the governance arrangements operated by 
Gravesham Borough Council.

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in 
the community?

     N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality?

    N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Page 93



Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18: Finance & Audit Committee (12 June 2018)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 

Corporate 
Plan

Ensuring the council has the adequate governance and internal control 
arrangements in place contributes to all aspects of the council’s Corporate Plan and 
specifcially to delivering Corproate Objective #4 - sound and self-sufficicent council.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Annual Governance Statement reviews all governance and control 
arrangements in place throughout the authority.  Whilst there are no direct 
implications in relation to Crime and Disorder, good governance makes a positive 
contribution to Community Safety in its broadest sense.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's governance arrangements, the council's digital services 
provide a key role in publishing a number of core documents and datasets. On 
approval, the AGS will be published to the council’s website to finalise the review 
process.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The Annual Governance Statement reviews all governance and control 
arrangements in place throughout the authority.  Whilst there are no direct 
implications from this report in relation to safeguarding children and vulnerable 
adults, the governance review has established the benefits of considering the 
safeguarding agenda in all core corporate decisons.

Page 94



Appendix Two 

Annual Governance Statement 2017-18: supporting evidence 

Annual Governance Statement 2017-18: supporting evidence 

1. Review of the corporate governance arrangements

A. Code of Corporate Governance: providing a definition of corporate governance
and the core principles of good governance in local authorities

B. Annual review of the corporate governance framework: conducted by the
council’s AGS Assurance Group

2. Sources of assurance

A. Assurance Statements

 Assurance Statements prepared by the Chief Executive and Directors

 Assurance Statements prepared by Assistant Directors, Service Managers
and other senior managers of the council

 Head of Internal Audit Assurance Statement

 Monitoring Officer Assurance Statement

 Chief Financial Officer Assurance Statement

B. External audit/inspection reports

 Grant Thornton: Audit Findings for Gravesham Borough Council 2016-17
F&A Committee: 12 September 2017

 Local Government Ombudsman: Annual Review 2016-17
F&A Committee: 12 September 2017

 Grant Thornton: Annual Audit Letter for Gravesham Borough Council 2016-17 
F&A Committee: 15 November 2017

 Grant Thornton: Certification Letter for Gravesham Borough Council 2016-17 
F&A Committee: 13 March 2018 

C. Internal Audit

 Annual opinion on the control environment prepared by Chief Audit Executive.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Page 1 

 
  

Gravesham Borough Council: Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 
 
1. Scope of Responsibility 

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  The council also has a duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement 
in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  

1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, Gravesham Borough Council is 
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its 
affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk. 

1.3 Gravesham Borough Council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate 
Governance which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework; ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.  A copy of the 
code can be obtained from the Corporate Performance Team and is also available 
on the council’s website.  

1.4 This statement explains how Gravesham Borough Council has complied with the 
code during 2017-18 and also meets the requirements of section 6 (1) of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 in relation to the preparation of 
an Annual Governance Statement. 

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and 
values that direct and control the council, and its activities, through which it 
accounts to, engages with, and leads the community.  It enables the council to 
monitor the achievement of its corporate objectives and to consider whether those 
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks 
to the achievement of the council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

2.3 The governance framework has been in place at Gravesham Borough Council for 
the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of the approval of the Statement 
of Accounts. 

2.4 In order to secure corporate ownership of its contents, this Annual Governance 
Statement was considered by the council’s Corporate Management Team on 29 
May 2018 before being approved by Members of the Finance & Audit Committee 
on 12 June 2018. 

Page 97

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance


 

  
Page 2 

 
  

3. The Governance Framework 

3.1 The policy setting and decision making process of the council is set out in 
Gravesham Borough Council’s Constitution.  The Full Council is the ultimate 
decision-making body of the council.  The Cabinet is responsible for most day-to-
day decisions within the policy framework which are subject to scrutiny by the 
Overview Scrutiny Committee whose role includes the examination of decisions 
made by Cabinet.  The Constitution also contains details of the council’s internal 
financial control framework, including comprehensive contract procedure rules, 
financial procedure rules and the scheme of delegation.  During 2017-18, work 
continued to review the Constitution to further strengthen the councils financial 
control framework and reflect amendments to the council’s decision making 
processes. 

3.2 As required by section 5 (1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the 
council has appointed a Monitoring Officer.  The role of the Monitoring Officer 
includes ensuring the lawfulness and integrity in the operation of the council’s 
decision-making processes, supporting the work of the Standards Committee and 
the investigation and reporting on issues that embrace all aspects of the council’s 
functions. 

Strategic Planning 

3.3 The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its 
vision for the borough. To work towards this vision and ultimately deliver relevant 
outcomes for local residents, the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19 sets out four 
clear strategic objectives each supported by a series of policy commitments:  

• Safer Gravesham: where local residents and visitors can live, work and travel 
in a safe, clean and green borough; 

• Stronger Gravesham: a healthier more cohesive community where children 
have the best start in life and people are proud to call home; 

• Sustainable Gravesham: a thriving and sustainable local economy, built on 
the foundations of high quality regeneration and development projects; and  

• Sound and self-sufficient council: a well-run and innovative council 
supporting its staff to realise commercial opportunities whilst transforming its 
services to deliver at the best possible value for money. 

 

3.4 The Corporate Plan was adopted into the council’s Policy Framework, as defined 
by the Constitution, by Full Council in October 2015.   

3.5 It is the Elected Members of the council who are ultimately responsible for the 
delivery of the council’s corporate objectives.  The council has strong 
communication channels between Members and officers and this has continued in 
2017-18.  Meetings are regularly held between officers and Members to discuss 
specific issues relating to individual portfolios. 

 

 

Page 98



 

  
Page 3 

 
  

3.6 Whilst the Elected Members are responsible for the delivery of council objectives, 
individual council departments have a key role in the delivery of those objectives.  
Effective communication within departments and across departments has 
continued to be supported through the Wider Management Team, consisting of 
the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers to help 
ensure consistent delivery of corporate messages. 

3.7 Departmental business plans identify how the operational work of each 
department contributes to the achievement of the corporate objectives. 

Transparency 

3.8 The Government maintains a commitment to increasing transparency across 
Whitehall and local authorities in order to make data more readily available to 
residents and allow them to hold service providers to account. 

3.9 As a publicly funded organisation, Gravesham Borough Council is committed to 
openness and accountability in the way the council operates.  The council has 
published a series of datasets in line with the Local Government Transparency 
Code 2015 including; senior staff salaries, organisation chart, council spending to 
suppliers (over £500), details of new contracts and has also adopted a Pay Policy 
Statement. 

Performance Management 

3.10 The council’s corporate objectives are cascaded down through departmental 
business plans and individual employee appraisals and action plans to help 
ensure that the council as a whole is aware of and is working towards the 
achievement of those objectives.   

3.11 The council has in place a Performance Management Framework (the framework) 
to standardise the mechanisms for managing performance against the Corporate 
Plan objectives and operational targets.  The framework is also used to help 
ensure compliance with established policies and procedures through discussion of 
service issues and the consideration of external reviews and Internal Audit 
reviews carried out within service areas. 

3.12 The framework establishes performance management meetings between Cabinet 
Portfolio holders, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers.  These 
meetings are intended to focus attention on the achievement of objectives through 
action planning, the consideration of risk, monitoring and review as well as 
supporting the economical, effective and efficient use of resources. 

3.13 The framework enables performance to be measured periodically against the suite 
of performance measures introduced by the Corporate Plan and other operational 
performance indicators.  This identifies areas of good performance as well as 
enabling action to be taken on areas of poor or falling performance. 

3.14 The council has sound performance reporting procedures for Members.  The 
Cabinet receive quarterly performance reports across the full suite of performance 
framework.  In addition, each of the Cabinet Committees receives regular reports 
on progress against the corporate objectives and performance indicators that fall 
within the remit of the committee. 

Page 99



 

  
Page 4 

 
  

Risk 

3.15 The Council has a Risk Management Strategy which continues to be reviewed 
and updated each year (as required) to reflect any future changes in the councils 
risk management arrangements.  The strategy was most recently reviewed during 
2017-18 and was found to be fit for purpose and therefore no amendments were 
made to the existing strategy. The Risk Management Strategy sets out the 
approach that has been adopted for identifying, evaluating, managing and 
recording risks to which the council is exposed.  

3.16 In preparing the council’s Corporate Risk Register a thorough review of the risks 
already identified by the council is undertaken by senior officers of the council with 
consideration given to the identification of potential new risks.  Progress made 
against any action required in relation to the risks identified in the Corporate Risk 
Register is reported to the council’s Corporate Management Team for review. 

3.17 The Finance & Audit Committee are responsible for monitoring the effective 
development and operation of these risk management arrangements. This 
responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management arrangements 
through closer monitoring of the management actions specified in the Corporate 
Risk Register and in turn enhances contribution to the development of the annual 
Corporate Risk Register. 

Finance 

3.18 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a council to ensure that 
one of their officers has responsibility for the proper administration of its financial 
affairs.  During 2017-18, this responsibility was held by the Director (Corporate 
Services) with a Deputy Section 151 officer also appointed - Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services).  Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers are 
responsible for the financial management of service areas within the council, 
which includes the monitoring of financial performance against budget.  

3.19 The council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance 
requirements of CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government as set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’. 

3.20 The council has in place a 10-year Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which 
sets out the forecasted budget for the council over the period.  This is supported 
by the Medium Term Financial Strategy which outlines how the council wants to 
structure and manage its finances and to ensure it fits with and supports the 
direction of the council's corporate objectives. 

3.21 A mid-year review of the council’s Treasury Management arrangements was 
undertaken and presented to the Finance & Audit Committee at its meeting in 
November 2017 which resulted in the committee recommending to Council that 
the revised estimates against the prudential and treasury indicators be endorsed; 
these were endorsed by Full Council at its meeting in December 2017.   

 

Page 100



 

  
Page 5 

 
  

3.22 In addition, the Finance & Audit Committee recommended to Full Council the 
adoption of the Treasury Management Strategy for the 2018-19 financial year at 
its meeting in February 2018; Full Council endorsed this at its subsequent 
meeting.  

3.23 Regular budget monitoring took place in 2017-18 in order to manage the council’s 
Net Revenue Budget.  Regular meetings are held between officers and the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders to discuss any specific budget issues and budget 
monitoring reports have been presented to the Finance & Audit Committee and 
Cabinet on a quarterly basis.   

3.24 The level of balances is reviewed annually in line with the budget setting process 
but is regularly reported to Finance and Audit Committee and Cabinet for position 
statements. 

Partnership and Joint-working 

3.25 The council is increasingly looking at alternative ways in which it can provide 
services, including making more effective use of the resources available to it and 
considering opportunities for working in partnership with public bodies and local 
agencies.   

3.26 Opportunities for shared or joint-working have been explored and implemented 
during the year, as they have arisen. 

3.27 During 2017-18, as in previous years, a comprehensive review of the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships was undertaken to ensure all relevant 
partnerships are included.   

Internal and External Audit 

3.28 The responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee include the consideration of 
reports from internal audit and external audit and inspection agencies as well as 
monitoring the performance of internal audit.  During 2017-18, the Finance and 
Audit Committee received and considered a number of reports from council 
officers and external bodies, enabling the committee to obtain assurances of the 
internal control and governance arrangements of the council and to monitor action 
in addressing any control issues identified by these reports. 

3.29 The council has a shared Audit and Counter Fraud service with Medway Council. 
The service operates to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and CIPFA’s 
Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
Compliance in this area was tested during 2017-18 when an External Quality 
Assessment concluded that the service; 

• “complies with the expectations of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards”; 
and 

• “receives positive feedback from the Audit Committee and Executive 
Management.” 

 

 

Page 101



 

  
Page 6 

 
  

3.30 The purpose of the team is to provide independent, objective assurance and 
consulting services to add value and improve the council’s operations by bringing 
a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness 
of risk management, control and governance processes. The Audit and Counter 
Fraud shared service combines this role with working alongside the council to 
manage its fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent 
activity committed against the council. The council also has an effective and 
professional relationship with the council’s external auditors, and statutory 
inspectors. 

3.31 The council’s internal audit arrangements conform to the governance 
requirements of CIPFA’s statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in 
Public Service Organisations. 

Counter Fraud Arrangements 

3.32 The council acknowledges the risk of fraud and has put robust arrangements in 
place to prevent, detect and investigate suspicions or allegations of fraud when 
they are received.  The Audit and Fraud update reports, presented four times each 
year to the Finance and Audit Committee, detail the work of this team. 

4. Review of Effectiveness of the Governance Framework 

4.1 Gravesham Borough Council has responsibility for conducting an annual review of 
the effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of internal 
control.  The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the executive managers within the council who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance 
environment, the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and also by statements 
made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. 

4.2 In maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework, the 
review has considered the following: 

4.2.1 The corporate and business planning processes of the council; 

4.2.2 The corporate performance management framework and the corporate 
performance reporting processes of the council; 

4.2.3 The completion of self-assessment control questionnaires by the Chief 
Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other key 
managers within the council; 

4.2.4 The completion of control questionnaires by the Monitoring Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Head of Internal Audit; 

4.2.5 Reviews carried out by Internal Audit, External Audit and other review 
bodies which generate reports commenting on the effectiveness of the 
systems of internal control employed by the council;  

4.2.6 The consideration of External Audit reports and certain Internal Audit 
reports by the Finance & Audit Committee; 

Page 102



 

  
Page 7 

 
  

4.2.7 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s 
overall control environment from the Head of Internal Audit. 

4.3 The arrangements in place are considered to be fit for purpose and in accordance 
with the council’s governance framework, with no significant areas requiring 
attention. The areas that are specifically to be addressed with new actions to 
further enhance the existing governance and control environment are outlined in 
section five.  

4.4 Overseen by the AGS Assurance Working Group, the findings of the annual 
review of the governance framework were considered by the council’s 
Management Team on 29 May 2018 and reported to Members of the Finance & 
Audit Committee on 12 June 2018.  

Page 103



 

  
Page 8 

 
  

5 Control Issues requiring attention 

Whilst the review of the council’s governance arrangements has not identified any significant governance issues requiring attention, it 
highlighted a number of areas where controls can be either further developed or enhanced. These are outlined in the table below. 

No. Control Issue Required Action Target date 

1 Constitution  
A key component of the Council’s governance framework, the Constitution 
ensures effective leadership throughout the authority, outlining the core 
executive and non-executive functions and the roles and responsibilities of the 
scrutiny function. 

Complete the next phase of the 
scheduled review of the council’s 
Constitution and re-issue to all Members. 

March 2019 
 

2 Workforce Development Plan 
The purpose of such a plan is to ensure that our staff are creative, flexible and 
have the right skills and profile to respond positively to the challenges that face 
the council into the future. 

To review the council’s existing plan and 
develop new proposals as required to 
ensure the council maintains its activities 
in line with industry good practice. 

March 2019 

3 Communications and Engagement Strategy  
Effective marketing and communications is essential in developing and 
delivering clear messages to: 
- Ensuring an open and transparent culture;  
- Communicate the information customers need to access services; 
- Engage the community in helping shape future service policy and provision; 
- Influence the behaviour and attitudes of local residents. 

In developing a Communications and 
Engagement Strategy the council will 
seek to formalise current arrangements 
and working practices. A strategy should 
aim to establish the principles that will 
guide how we communicate and engage, 
in language that people can understand, 
and through easy to access channels. 

March 2019 

4 Corporate Policy Review  
The council is required to respond to developments in the government’s 
legislative programme by reflecting new statutory and guidance requirements 
throughout its own policy framework.  

Carry out a review of effected policies 
and strategies to ensure the council’s 
policy framework maintains legislative 
compliance in all areas.  
 

March 2019 

P
age 104



 

  
Page 9 

 
  

Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee 

I confirm that the 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement has been considered and approved by Gravesham Borough Council at the 
meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee on 12 June 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

………………………... 

Councillor Karen Hurdle  
 
Date………………….. 

 
 
 

Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive 

  
 
  

……………………….......         ………………………... 

Councillor David Turner         David Hughes 
Leader of the Executive         Chief Executive 
 
Date………………………         Date……………………… 

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 12 June 2018

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Treasury Management Review 2017-18

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report on treasury management acitivity during 2017-18 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) 
revised code on Treasury Management 2009.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2017-18 in line with the requirements 
of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code).

1.2 In accordance with reporting requirements for each financial year, Full Council will 
have received the following reports for 2017-18:

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 21 February 2017)

 a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 5 December 2017)

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report, which will be received by Council on 26 
June 2018 through consideration of the Minutes of this meeting of the Finance 
& Audit Committee).

1.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, therefore, 
important in that respect as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury 
activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by Members.

Page 107 Agenda Item 8



1.4 The report also provides confirmation that the Council has complied with the 
requirement under the Code to give prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury 
management reports by the Finance and Audit Committee before they were 
reported to the Full Council.

2. THE ECONOMY AND INTEREST RATES

2.1 There was a major shift during 2017 in the expectations of financial markets in 
terms of when the UK Bank Rate would start to rise. After the UK economy 
experienced strong growth in the second half of 2016, growth in the first half of 
2017 was more disappointing, being the lowest level of growth for the first half of 
any year since 2012. The main reason for this was the sharp increase in inflation 
caused by the devaluation of sterling following the EU referendum, feeding 
increases into the cost of imports into the economy. This caused a reduction in 
consumer disposable income and spending power as inflation exceeded average 
wage increases. Consequently the services sector of the economy (which 
accounts for 75% of GDP) saw weak growth as consumers responded by cutting 
back on their expenditure. Growth did, however, pick up modestly in the second 
half of 2017 with market expectations rising significantly that the Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) would begin its programme of Bank Rate increases. The 
minutes of the MPC meeting of 14 September indicated that the MPC would be 
likely to raise the UK Bank Rate very  soon and at the of meeting of the MPC on 2 
November the Bank Rate was increased from 0.25% to 0.50%. Following the 
MPC meeting of 8 February, the Committee issued warnings of a more imminent 
and faster pace of increases in the Bank Rate than had been previously 
expected.  This led to investment rates from 3 to 12 months increasing sharply 
during the spring quarter.

2.2 In line with the above, there were corresponding increases in PWLB borrowing 
rates with the shorter term rates increasing more sharply than longer term rates.

2.3 The UK landmark event of the year - the General Election held on 8 June 2017 - 
had relatively little impact on financial markets.

Page 108



3. OVERALL TREASURY POSITION

3.1 The Council‘s treasury position at the beginning and the end of 2017-18 was as 
follows:

31 March 
2017 

Principal 
£m

Rate/ 
Return

31 March 
2018 

Principal 
£m

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life

Total Debt £101.677 3.112% £98.083 3.168% 9.90 
years

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR)

£112.544 - £108.832 - -

Over/ (Under) 
borrowing

(£10.867) - (£10.749) - -

Total Investments £33.474 - £31.320 - -

Internally Managed 
Investments

£23.490 0.575% £11.019 0.448% 205 
days*

Property Funds £9.984 - £10.301 4.13% -

Multi-Asset Funds £0 - £10,000 5.78% -

Net Debt
(Total Debt minus 
Total Investments) 

£68.203 - £66.763 - -

*This relates to fixed term investments and certificates of deposits, Money market fund transactions 
are excluded from the calculation

4. THE STRATEGY FOR 2017-18

4.1 The expectation for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for 
2017-18 anticipated that the UK Bank Rate would not start rising from 0.25% until 
quarter 2 2019 and then only increase once more before 31.3.20. There would 
also be gradual rises in medium and longer term fixed borrowing rates during 
2017-18 and the two subsequent financial years. Variable or short-term rates 
were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing over the period. Continued 
uncertainty in the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis would promote a cautious 
approach, whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low 
counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to 
borrowing rates.

4.2 In this scenario the treasury strategy was to postpone borrowing to avoid the cost 
of holding higher levels of investments and to reduce counterparty risk.

4.3 During 2017-18, longer term PWLB rates were volatile but with little overall 
direction whereas shorter term PWLB rates were on a rising trend during the 
second half of the year.

Page 109



5. THE BORROWING REQUIREMENT AND DEBT

5.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).

31 March 2017 
Actual

31 March 2018 
Revised Estimates 

31 March 2018 
Actual 

CFR General Fund (£m) £20.375 £29.487 £20.167

CFR HRA  (£m) £92.169 £88.665 £88.665

Total CFR  (£m) £112.544 £118.152 £108.832

6. BORROWING RATES IN 2017-18

6.1 As depicted in the graph and table below, PWLB rates fell from April to June and 
then gained fresh downward impetus after the referendum and Bank Rate cut 
before staging a partial recovery through to December and then falling slightly 
through to the end of March.

 

Page 110



7. BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2017-18

7.1 No borrowing was undertaken during 2017-18.

7.2 No rescheduling of debts was carried out during the year as the average 1% 
differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates 
made rescheduling unviable.

7.3 On 26 March 2018, a further loan the Council had taken on as a result of HRA 
self-financing matured. Loan principal totalling £3,504,000 was repaid. The 
Council has made a voluntary contribution of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
equal to the loan principal in order to reduce the CFR accordingly.

8. INVESTMENT RATES IN 2017-18

8.1 Investment rates for 3 months and longer were seen to be on a rising trend during 
the second half of the year (with the expectation of a rise in the UK Bank Rate). 
The Bank Rate was duly raised from 0.25% to 0.50% on 2 November 2017 and 
remained at that level for the rest of the year. Further increases are expected 
over the next few years.

 London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) is the average interest rate which major London banks borrow 
Eurocurrency deposits from other banks

Page 111



9. Investment Outturn for 2017-18

9.1 Investments held by the Council – the Council maintained an average balance 
of £29,784,887 of internally managed funds during the year. The internally 
managed funds earned an average rate of return of 0.4481%. The 3 month LIBID 
rate which is used as the most appropriate comparative performance indicator 
was 0.2861%. Despite the continued low investment yields offered by financial 
markets, the average rate of return exceeded by 0.162%.

9.2 Property Funds – As at 31 March 2018 the Council achieved an average income 
rate of return on its Lothbury investments of 4.02%, achieved an average rate of 
return of 5.13% on its CCLA investments and in respect of its Hermes 
investments a 3.72% average return was achieved. Across all three funds this 
represented an average return of 4.13%.

9.3 In addition to the income received from each fund, there has also been capital 
growth of 6.47% across the funds since the initial deposits were placed.  The 
capital growth on Lothbury has been 6.08%, Hermes has seen growth of 9.84% 
and CCLA has capital growth of 2.29%.

9.4 Multi-Asset Funds – A report on alternative treasury management investment 
options was presented to the Finance and Audit Committee on 12 September 
2017 setting out proposals to progress the use of Multi-Asset Funds (also known 
as Diversified Income Funds). Following subsequent approval of this by Full 
Council in October 2017, the authority’s Treasury Management Consultants (Link 
Asset Services) were engaged to assist Officers with the identification and 
selection of suitable funds. Four companies were invited to give presentations at 
a Selection Panel held on 13 December 2017. On the basis of these 
presentations together with independent analysis of each fund’s strategy, their 
respective Fund and Fee structures and their historic performance, the following 
split of investment was decided by the Property Acquisition Cross Party Working 
Group :

 Jupiter Unit Trust Managers Ltd £3 million

 JP Morgan Asset Management £5 million

 Aberdeen Asset Management £2 million

All three investments were placed with these Funds in February 2018.

9.5 Property Acquisitions – The purchase of commercial properties is not deemed 
a Treasury Management investment but a Service Investment. However there is 
a direct impact upon Treasury Management on the basis that any such purchase 
reduces the level of investable cash balances. Treasury officers will continue to 
liaise closely with Legal and Property to ensure that cash is available at the 
appropriate time to facilitate the further purchase of commercial properties using 
a further £10m of cash balances, as approved by Full Council in June 2017.

9.6 MiFID II - From 3 January 2018 new EU legislation came into force that does 
impact upon the authority’s treasury management activity.  MiFID II (Markets in 
Financial Instruments Directive) is aimed at increasing investor protection by 
creating a more efficient, risk-aware and transparent market for investment 
services and activities. This legislation required the FCA to treat all local 
authorities as Retail Clients but did allow local authorities to opt up to an Elective 

Page 112



Professional Client status if they met certain pre-determined criteria. The Council 
was not obliged to opt up but by not doing so could have precluded the Council 
from dealing with certain institutions or funds. The Council has opted up to 
Elective Professional Client status with all the institutions that required it to do so.

9.7 Risk Management – Any risks associated with the treasury management 
activities are managed through the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Annual Investment Strategy.  

10. CASHFLOW FORECASTING

10.1 During 2017-18, the Council diversified its investment activity further by placing 
£10m in Multi-Asset Funds.

10.2 As part of its treasury management responsibilities, the Finance & Audit 
Committee have been updated during the year of the Council’s projected 
cashflow position. The model continues to be updated and will be presented to 
members of the Finance and Audit Committee at the next opportunity to reflect:

 The favourable provisional revenue outturn position for both the General 
Fund and the Housing Revenue Account

 The provisional outturn of the capital programme for both the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account, including slippage from 2017-18.

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 There are no Background Papers pertaining to this Report.

Page 113



Prudential and treasury indicators Appendix A

1.  PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2016-17 2017-18 2017-18

actual original actual

£m £m £m
Capital Expenditure
    Non - HRA £13.507 £4,819 £5,095

    HRA £8.328 £13,155 £12,657

    TOTAL £21.835 £17,974 £17,752
 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream (This is the 
proportion of annual debt financing costs as a percentage 
of the council’s annual budget requirement)
    Non - HRA 2.06% 6.26%

    HRA 20.01% 23.28%

 

Gross borrowing requirement
    brought forward 1 April £104.781 £101,676 £101.677

    carried forward 31 March £101.677 £100,891 £98.082

    in year borrowing requirement £3.104 (£1,285) £3.595
 

 Gross Debt £101.677 £103.391 £98.082

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as at 31 March (This 
is the amount of capital spending that has not been 
financed by capital receipts, capital grants of 
contributions from revenue)

    Non – HRA £20.375 £20.290 £20.167

    HRA (applies only to housing authorities) £92.169 £88.665 £88.665

    TOTAL £112.544 £108.955 £108.832
 

Annual change in Cap. Financing Requirement 
    Non – HRA £9.803 (£0.089) (£0.208)

    HRA (applies only to housing authorities) (£3.024) (£3.504) (£3.504)

    TOTAL £6.779 (£3,593) (£3.712)

 

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £   p £   p

    Increase in council tax (band D) per annum  * £2.82 £2.43

    Increase in average housing rent per week N/A N/A

Page 114



2.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
INDICATORS 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Original Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Authorised Limit for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a temporary basis to 
manage cash flow demands)
    borrowing £126,500 £126,500 £126,500
    other long term liabilities £1,600 £1,600 £1,600
     TOTAL £128,100 £128,100 £128,100
 
Operational Boundary for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must 
not be breached other than for temporary cash flow 
demand purposes)
     borrowing £125,000 £125,000 £125,000
     other long term liabilities £1,500 £1,500 £1,500
     TOTAL £126,500 £126,500 £126,500
 
Actual external debt £101.677 £100.391 £98.082

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure
     Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments 100 % 100 % 100 %
 
Upper limit for variable rate exposure

     Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments 25 % 25 % 25 %
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 
364 days £10,000 £10,000 £10,000

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
during 2017/18 Lower limit Upper limit

under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months and within 24 months 0% 50%

24 months and within 5 years 0% 75%

5 years and within 10 years 0% 75%

10 years and within 15 years 0% 100%

15 years and within 20 years 0% 100%

Greater than 20 years 0% 100%

Note: The figures shown in the tables above reflect the position as at the date of reporting.  They 
are subject to change during the final accounts process.

Page 115



Appendix 3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 3

Legal As per Section 1.13B.67 of the Council's constitution, the Chief Finance Officer has 
delegated responsibility from Cabinet

"in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council's borrowing requirements".

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Due to the nature of the report, the financial implications are contained within the 
report.

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising and managing the 
exposure to risk.  In order to achieve this, investments are only placed with 
institutions which meet the criteria set out within the TMSS.

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the authority, 
officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on timings and options in order 
to ensure the best deal for the authority.

Risk 
Assessment

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury Management were 
identified in the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council on 
21 February 2017.  Officers continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and 
identify mitigating actions to minimise risks.
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective 4 - Sound and Self Sufficient Council

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications.

Page 116



Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 12 June 2018

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: External Audit Questions to Those Charged With Governance

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an opportunity to consider and discuss a number of questions 
posed by the External Auditors to the Finance & Audit Committee in relation to the council’s 
arrangements to manage fraud risk and ensure legislative compliance.

Recommendations:
1. That the Finance and Audit Committee consider and agree whether the response to 

the letter from Grant Thornton UK LLP, as set out in Appendix Two of this report, is 
consistent with its understanding of the council’s management processes and 
arrangements.

1. Background to the report

1.1 As the council’s External Auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP is required to maintain 
effective two-way communication with the council’s Finance & Audit Committee.  
This assists both the External Auditor and the Committee in understanding 
matters relating to the work of External Audit and developing a constructive 
working relationship.  It also enables the External Auditor to obtain information 
from the Committee and supports the Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in 
relation to the financial reporting process.

2. Letter to those charged with governance

2.1 As part the audit risk assessment procedures, Grant Thornton UK LLP has posed 
a number of questions directly to the Finance & Audit Committee regarding how 
the committee oversees the council’s management processes and arrangements.  
Members are requested to consider and agree the response of the committee to 
these questions as set out at Appendix Two to this report.

Page 119 Agenda Item 9



2

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.  

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 120



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal N/A

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

N/A

Risk 
Assessment

N/A

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

N/A

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two

Response from Finance and Audit Committee Chair

Fraud risk assessment

Auditor Question Response
Has the Council assessed the risk of material 
misstatement in the financial statements due to fraud?

Yes.  The council’s process for assessing the 
risk of material misstatement in the 
financial statements due to fraud involves:

-Reports on the council’s corporate risk 
management process and corporate risk 
register with specific consideration of fraud 
risk.
-Reports from finance including budget 
monitoring, treasury management, 
preparation for final accounts, officer 
training on closedown of the accounts, 
treasury management and horizon 
scanning.
-Reports from the Audit & Counter Fraud 
team providing assurance on the integrity 
of financial controls
-Quarterly reports from the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team providing information 
on anti-fraud activities including national 
fraud initiative (NFI)
-The process to develop the annual 
governance statement providing assurance 
that controls are in place including specific 
reference to fraud risk within management 
assurance statements.

What are the results of this process? The results of this process are that no risk 
of misstatement has been found.

Page 123



2

Auditor Question Response
What processes does the Council have in place to 
identify and respond to risks of fraud?

 Corporate framework of policies 
and procedures intended to direct 
the activity of the council and 
detect deviations from this.

 Anti-fraud & corruption strategy, 
whistleblowing policy and anti-
fraud policies relating specifically 
to housing & council tax benefit, 
council tax reduction, discounts & 
exemptions and housing fraud are 
in place, reviewed regularly and 
publicised to staff through 
NETConsent (a policy management 
software program used to assist 
with the distribution of corporate 
policies and procedures to staff).

 Delivery of training to enhance 
awareness of fraud risks within 
council business.

 Consideration of national guidance 
on fraud (from bodies such as 
Grant Thornton, CIPFA and the 
Cabinet Office) as well as local 
officer networks.

 Proactive participation in data 
matching exercises such as the NFI.

 Audit & Counter Fraud Planning 
Process includes specific 
assessment of fraud risks, with 
high risk areas subject to targeted 
audits of counter fraud 
arrangements.

 Audit & Counter Fraud Team with 
a corporate approach in place to 
respond to risk of fraud.

Reporting of counter fraud activity to the 
Finance & Audit committee through:

- Regular reports from the Audit and 
Counter Fraud Team providing 
assurance that regulations are 
being complied with.

- Quarterly reporting outlining 
details of investigated cases.

Page 124



3

Auditor Question Response
Have any specific fraud risks, or areas with a high risk of 
fraud, been identified and what has been done to 
mitigate these risks?

The Audit & Counter Fraud planning 
process includes specific fraud risk 
assessment that results in specific fraud 
focused reviews on each plan. Resultant 
action plans are agreed with client 
management and implementation of 
recommendations reported to 
management team to ensure any 
weaknesses identified are addressed.

Results from the current investigative 
processes are detailed within quarterly 
reports.

Tenancy fraud in housing stock has 
previously been identified as a continuing 
risk and a growing area of concern. A fraud 
proofing review was undertaken in relation 
to the right to buy process in order to 
strengthen the councils fraud prevention 
methods. A number of recommendations 
have since been implemented. 

Page 125



4

Auditor Question Response
Are internal controls, including segregation of duties, in 
place and operating effectively?

Yes.

Segregation of duties is a requirement of 
the council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
is built into key strategies such as the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, in his 
role as Chief Audit Executive, will provide 
his audit opinion in the 2017-18 Annual 
Audit & Counter Fraud Report.  Based on a 
provisional assessment, the Head of Audit 
& Counter Fraud is minded to issue an 
opinion that the council’s system of 
internal control adequately contributes to 
the proper, economic, efficient and 
effective use of resources in achieving the 
council’s objectives.  In areas where 
internal control arrangements could be 
improved or enhanced, recommendations 
have been made and their implementation 
will be monitored through the follow-up 
process.  

Management confirmation has been 
obtained that 79.8% of recommendations 
due for implementation during 2017-18 
have been actioned.  Progress against the 
outstanding recommendations will be 
monitored by the Management Team.

The Finance and Audit Committee are part 
of the internal control process and provide 
challenge and scrutiny of governance and 
financial information presented to them.

If not, where are the risk areas and what mitigating 
actions have been taken?

The council accepts that risks around 
internal control can change due to a 
number of factors.  This is taken into 
account when developing the Annual Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plan.  Ongoing 
Management Team monitoring of 
recommendations agreed through Audit & 
Counter Fraud Reviews ensures that 
internal controls continue to be 
maintained.

Page 126



5

Auditor Question Response
Are there any areas where there is a potential for 
override of controls or inappropriate influence over the 
financial reporting process (for example because of 
undue pressure to achieve financial targets)? 

There are no areas where there is a 
potential for override of controls or 
inappropriate influence over the financial 
reporting process.  There is a pressure to 
achieve targets but this is undertaken 
within a controlled environment with 
regular budget monitoring, Medium Term 
Financial Plan updates and effective risk 
management processes.  

Any deliberate acts would be dealt with as 
disciplinary matters and / or fraud cases as 
appropriate.

Are there any areas where there is a potential for 
misreporting?

There are no areas considered to have 
potential for misreporting or override of 
controls, based on the factors below:

- There is a Data Quality Policy in 
place which is available to all staff.

- There is a Whistleblowing policy in 
place which is available to all staff.  
No reports of override of controls 
received during 2017-18.

- The Audit & Counter Fraud Team is 
operationally independent (being 
employed by Medway Council) and 
the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service, as Chief Audit 
Executive, is free to report to the 
Finance & Audit Committee in his 
own name.

Page 127



6

Auditor Question Response
How does the Governing Body exercise oversight over 
management's processes for identifying and responding 
to risks of fraud?

The Finance & Audit Committee:

- Play a key role in the development 
and review of the council’s Risk 
Management Strategy and Annual 
Corporate Risk Register.

- Receive quarterly Audit & Counter 
Fraud Reports.

- Consider and approve the Annual 
Audit & Counter Fraud Plan, which 
includes proactive fraud activity.

- Receive quarterly Audit & Counter 
Fraud update reports which 
include assurance on the council’s 
control environment through the 
programmed reviews conducted.

- Receive the Annual Governance 
Statement, including the annual 
review of the council’s governance 
arrangements and the evidence 
base for this.

- Question officers at Finance and 
Audit Committee meetings

- Question External Audit 
representatives at the Finance and 
Audit Committee meetings.

- Receive reports from External 
Audit which, among other things, 
provide assurance on the council’s 
arrangements through the Annual 
Audit and Inspection Letter. 

- Receive reports following external 
inspections by regulatory bodies; 
such as the Local Government 
Ombudsman etc.

What arrangements are in place to report fraud issues 
and risks to the Governing Body?

Please see response above for the 
arrangements report fraud issues and risks 
to the Finance and Audit Committee.

Page 128



7

Auditor Question Response
How does the Council communicate and encourage 
ethical behaviour of its staff and contractors?

- The council has a Code of Conduct 
that sets the expectations of 
behaviour of council officers, 
which includes the expectation of 
officers to report any suspected 
fraud or impropriety.

- The Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy, Whistleblowing Policy, 
Housing & Council Tax Benefit 
Anti-Fraud Policy, Council Tax 
Reduction, Discount and 
Exemption Anti-Fraud Policy and 
the Housing Anti-Fraud Policy are 
publicised to all staff through 
NETConsent and the council 
website.

The Annual Governance Statement 
includes assurance statements from senior 
management, including managers of 
shared services, S151 officer and 
Monitoring Officer confirming that they 
follow council’s standard arrangements in 
relation to governance issues, including 
fraud arrangements.

The major services provided by the council 
are delivered in-house by Gravesham 
employees, who are subject to the 
council’s Code of Conduct and other 
relevant policies.  Contracts in place for the 
delivery of services by third parties include 
a clause which requires compliance with 
the council’s Code of Conduct and other 
related policies.

Page 129



8

Auditor Question Response
How do you encourage staff to report their concerns 
about fraud? 
Have any significant issues been reported?

Both the anti-fraud & corruption policy and 
whistleblowing policy are distributed to 
staff via NETConsent on an annual basis, 
both of which outline how to report any 
suspicions or concerns.

In addition the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Team deliver fraud awareness training to 
both officers and Members as part of their 
annual workplan.

Referrals concerning third parties (council 
service users) and fraud relating to things 
such as housing and council tax have been 
reported and investigated accordingly.

Are you aware of any related party relationships or 
transactions that could give rise to risks of fraud?

No.  These are considered through a 
defined process as part of the preparation 
of the statement of accounts, with 
appropriate disclosures made.  Provisional 
assessment of related party relationships 
declared for 2017-18 have not found any 
concerns.

Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected or 
alleged, fraud, either within the Council as a whole or 
within specific departments since 1 April 2017?

There have been no reports of suspected 
or alleged fraud relating to council 
employees during 2017-18.

Are you aware of any whistle-blower tips or complaints? No whistleblow reports have been received 
during 2017-18.

Page 130



9

Law and regulation

Auditor Question Response
What arrangements does the Council have in place to 
prevent and detect non-compliance with laws and 
regulations?

- The Monitoring Officer or Deputy 
Monitoring Officer is a 
representative at Management 
Team and Council meetings.

- The Council’s Constitution details 
the regulatory framework 
including delegated 
responsibilities, decision making, 
procedure rules and codes of 
conduct. 

- The employment of professional 
officers in Senior Posts helps to 
ensure that departments also 
become aware of relevant 
legislative change which may 
impact on their operations.

- All Management Team and 
Committee reports include an 
appendix that considers the legal 
and financial implications of the 
item reported. 

- The Code of Conduct for 
Employees requires all employees 
to work within the law and all 
regulations; the code is circulated 
to all staff on an annual basis via 
NETConsent.

- Programmed Audit & Counter 
Fraud reviews provide assurance 
on compliance with relevant 
law/regulations/ policies.

How does management gain assurance that all relevant 
laws and regulations have been complied with?

- All senior managers complete an 
Assurance Statement submitted as 
evidence for the Annual 
Governance Statement. All 
managers confirmed that all 
relevant laws and regulations have 
been complied with in their areas 
during 2017-18. 

- There were no concerns of non-
compliance raised either directly 
with the Monitoring Officer or 
through the Whistleblowing 
channel during 2017-18.

Page 131



10

Auditor Question Response
How is the Governing Body provided with assurance 
that all relevant laws and regulations have been 
complied with?

- The Annual Governance Statement 
is presented to the Finance & Audit 
Committee along with a 
comprehensive package of 
evidence. This includes the 
comprehensive review of the 
council’s governance 
arrangements as well as a copy of 
all assurance statements 
completed by managers confirming 
all laws and regulations have been 
complied with. 

- The findings of all Audit & Counter 
Fraud reviews are reported to the 
Finance & Audit Committee; if an 
audit found concerns or any non-
compliance this would be reported 
directly to the Committee; no such 
reports have been made in 2017-
18.

Have there been any instances of non-compliance or 
suspected non-compliance with law and regulation 
since 1 April 2017?

- The evidence for the Annual 
Governance Statement includes an 
assurance statement specific to the 
role of the Monitoring Officer. This 
confirmed that no instances of 
non-compliance were identified in 
2017-18, nor is there any evidence 
of significant unreported concerns.

What arrangements does the Council have in place to 
identify, evaluate and account for litigation or claims?

- The Annual Governance Statement 
includes an assurance statement 
from the Monitoring Officer.

- The closedown of accounts process 
asks Directors and Service 
Managers for any known 
contingent liabilities so that 
provisions for possible litigation or 
claims can be made.

Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that 
would affect the financial statements?

There are no known potential litigation 
cases or claims at the time of preparing 
this response that would materially affect 
the presentation of the financial 
statements.  

Have there been any reports from other regulatory 
bodies, such as HM Revenues and Customs, which 
indicate non-compliance?

No.

Page 132



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 12 June 2018

Reporting officer: Emily McKeown, Grant Thornton UK LLP

Subject: Audit Fee Letter 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the external audit fee set for 2018-19.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee is invited to note the audit fee agreed with officers.

1. Background

1.1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 brought to a close the Audit 
Commission and established new arrangements for local auditor appointments, 
applicable to audits of the accounts of principal local government bodies from 
2018-19 onwards. 

1.2 In July 2016 Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) was selected by the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government to take on the role of 
Appointing Person for principal local government and police bodies.  After 
consideration by the Finance & Audit Committee Members, Full Council resolved 
unanimously to accept the invitation to opt into the appointing persons 
arrangements made by PSAA for the appointment of external auditors.  Following 
a procurement process managed by PSAA, the council accepted the appointment 
of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP (the council’s current external audit provider) as the 
auditor of Gravesham Borough Council for five years from 1 April 2018.

1.3 The letter at appendix two provides details of the audit fee for the Council along 
with the scope and timing of the planned work of Grant Thornton UK LLP and 
details of the staff responsible for delivering the audit.  

2. Contacts

2.1 Grant Thornton UK LLP are the author of the report. 

Page 133 Agenda Item 10



2

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

Page 134



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

   

Legal N/A

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Following the PSAA Auditor Appointment process the 2018-19 fee has been set at 
£41,036 - this is a 23% reduction on the fee of £53,294 for the 2017-18 audit.  

Risk 
Assessment

N/A

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

There are no direct implications for the Council’s strategic priorities. 

The appointment of an External Auditor is a statutory requirement on the Council 
and as such contributes towards Strategic Objective 4 - Sound & self-sufficient 
council.

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Chartered Accountants 
Member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd 
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP 
A list of members is available from our registered office.  
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

 
 

David Hughes 
Gravesham Borough Council Civic Centre,  
Windmill Street,  
Gravesend,  
Kent,  
DA12 1AU 
 
13 April 2018 

Dear David  

Planned audit fee for 2018/19 – Gravesham Borough Council 
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) provides the framework for local 
public audit. Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) has been specified as an 
appointing person under the Act and the Local Authority (Appointing Person) Regulations 
2015 and has the power to make auditor appointments for audits of opted- in local 
government bodies from 2018/19.   

For opted- in bodies PSAA's responsibilities include setting fees, appointing auditors and 
monitoring the quality of auditors' work. Further information on PSAA and its 
responsibilities are available on the PSAA website. 

From 2018/19 all grant work, including housing benefit certification, now falls outside the 
PSAA contract, as PSAA no longer has the power to make appointments for assurance on 
grant claims and returns. Any assurance engagements will therefore be subject to separate 
engagements agreed between the grant-paying body, the Council and ourselves and separate 
fees agreed with the Council. 

Scale fee 

PSAA published the 2018/19 scale fees for opted-in bodies in March 2018, following a 
consultation process.  Individual scale fees have been reduced by 23 percent from the fees 
applicable for 2017/18. Further details are set out on the PSAA website. The Council's scale 
fee for 2018/19 has been set by PSAA at £41,036.    

PSAA prescribes that 'scale fees are based on the expectation that audited bodies are able to 
provide the auditor with complete and materially accurate financial statements, with 
supporting working papers, within agreed timeframes'.  

The audit planning process for 2018/19, including the risk assessment, will continue as the 
year progresses and fees will be reviewed and updated as necessary as our work progresses.  

 
 

 
Scope of the audit fee 
There are no changes to the overall work programme for audits of local government audited 
bodies for 2018/19.  Under the provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, 

Gr ant Thornton UK LLP 
2nd Floor  St John's House  
Haslett Avenue West  
Crawley 

RH10 1HS  
T +44 (0)20 7383 5100 
 
www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 

 

Page 137

http://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/what-we-do/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/201819-work-programme-and-scales-of-fees/


 2 

the National Audit Office (NAO) is responsible for publishing the statutory Code of Audit 
Practice and guidance for auditors. Audits of the accounts for 2018/19 will be undertaken 
under this Code. Further information on the NAO Code and guidance is available on the 
NAO website. 

The scale fee covers: 

 our audit of your financial statements; 

 our work to reach a conclusion on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of 
resources (the value for money conclusion); and 

 our work on your whole of government accounts return (if applicable). 
 
PSAA will agree fees for considering objections from the point at which auditors accept an 
objection as valid, or any special investigations, as a variation to the scale fee. 

 

Value for Money conclusion 

The Code requires us to consider whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VfM) conclusion. 
 
The NAO issued its latest guidance for auditors on value for money work in November 2017. 
The guidance states that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a 
conclusion on whether the Council has put proper arrangements in place. 
 
The NAO guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 
In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people.  

 

Billing schedule 

Fees will be billed as follows: 
 

Main Audit fee £ 

September 2018 10,259.00 

December 2018 10,259.00 

March 2019 10,259.00 

June 2019 10,259.00 

Total 41,036.00 

 

 

 

Outline audit timetable 

We will undertake our audit planning and interim audit procedures in November 2018 to 
February 2019. Upon completion of this phase of our work we will issue a detailed audit plan 
setting out our findings and details of our audit approach. Our final accounts audit and work 
on the VfM conclusion will be completed in July 2019 and work on the whole of government 
accounts return in July 2019. 
 
 

 
Phase of work 

Timing Outputs Comments 

Page 138

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/


 3 

Audit planning 
and interim audit 

November 2018 
to February 2019 

Audit plan The plan summarises the 
findings of our audit planning 
and our approach to the audit of 
the Council's accounts and VfM. 

Final accounts 
audit 

June to July 2019 Audit Findings 
(Report to those 
charged with 
governance) 

This report sets out the findings 
of our accounts audit and VfM 
work for the consideration of 
those charged with governance. 

VfM conclusion January 2019 to 
July 2019 

Audit Findings 
(Report to those 
charged with 
governance) 

As above 

Whole of 
government 
accounts 

July 2019 Opinion on the 
WGA return 

This work will be completed 
alongside the accounts audit. 

Annual audit letter September 2019 Annual audit letter 
to the Council 

The letter will summarise the 
findings of all aspects of our 
work. 

 

Our team 

The key members of the audit team for 2018/19 are:  

 Name Phone Number E-mail 

Engagement 
Lead  

Liz Jackson 0207 7283329   Elizabeth.L.Jackson@uk.gt.com 

Manager Emily McKeown 020 7728 3091 Emily.McKeown@uk.gt.com  

 

Additional work 

The scale fee excludes any work requested by the Council that we may agree to undertake 
outside of our Code audit.  Each additional piece of work will be separately agreed and a 
detailed project specification and fee agreed with the Council. 

Quality assurance 

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service.  If you are in any way 
dissatisfied, or would like to discuss how we can improve our service, please contact me in 
the first instance. Alternatively you may wish to contact Paul Dossett, our Public Sector 
Assurance regional lead partner, via paul.dossett@uk.gt.com. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 
Darren Wells 
Engagement Lead 
For Grant Thornton UK LLP 
 
 

 

Page 139

mailto:Elizabeth.L.Jackson@uk.gt.com
mailto:Emily.McKeown@uk.gt.com
mailto:paul.dossett@uk.gt.com


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2017-18
	APPENDIX 2 - GBC A&CF Annual Report 2017-18

	6 Audit External Quality Assessment
	APPENDIX 2 - External Quality Assessment Report
	APPENDIX 3 - EQA Recommendations Matrix

	7 Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18
	2. Appendix Two AGS - 2017-18 Evidence provided to members.pdf
	3. Appendix Three - Annual Governance Statement 2017-18.pdf
	1. Scope of Responsibility
	1.1 Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and effectivel...
	1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for ...
	1.3 Gravesham Borough Council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.  A copy of the code can be obtained from the...
	1.4 This statement explains how Gravesham Borough Council has complied with the code during 2017-18 and also meets the requirements of section 6 (1) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 in relation to the preparation of an Annual Gover...

	2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework
	2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values that direct and control the council, and its activities, through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the community.  It enables the council to monitor the ach...
	2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonabl...
	2.3 The governance framework has been in place at Gravesham Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of the approval of the Statement of Accounts.
	2.4 In order to secure corporate ownership of its contents, this Annual Governance Statement was considered by the council’s Corporate Management Team on 29 May 2018 before being approved by Members of the Finance & Audit Committee on 12 June 2018.

	3. The Governance Framework
	3.1 The policy setting and decision making process of the council is set out in Gravesham Borough Council’s Constitution.  The Full Council is the ultimate decision-making body of the council.  The Cabinet is responsible for most day-to-day decisions ...
	3.2 As required by section 5 (1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the council has appointed a Monitoring Officer.  The role of the Monitoring Officer includes ensuring the lawfulness and integrity in the operation of the council’s decisio...
	Strategic Planning
	3.3 The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its vision for the borough. To work towards this vision and ultimately deliver relevant outcomes for local residents, the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19 sets out four c...
	3.4 The Corporate Plan was adopted into the council’s Policy Framework, as defined by the Constitution, by Full Council in October 2015.
	3.5 It is the Elected Members of the council who are ultimately responsible for the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives.  The council has strong communication channels between Members and officers and this has continued in 2017-18.  Meeting...
	3.6 Whilst the Elected Members are responsible for the delivery of council objectives, individual council departments have a key role in the delivery of those objectives.  Effective communication within departments and across departments has continued...
	3.7 Departmental business plans identify how the operational work of each department contributes to the achievement of the corporate objectives.
	Transparency
	3.8 The Government maintains a commitment to increasing transparency across Whitehall and local authorities in order to make data more readily available to residents and allow them to hold service providers to account.
	3.9 As a publicly funded organisation, Gravesham Borough Council is committed to openness and accountability in the way the council operates.  The council has published a series of datasets in line with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 incl...
	Performance Management
	3.10 The council’s corporate objectives are cascaded down through departmental business plans and individual employee appraisals and action plans to help ensure that the council as a whole is aware of and is working towards the achievement of those ob...
	3.11 The council has in place a Performance Management Framework (the framework) to standardise the mechanisms for managing performance against the Corporate Plan objectives and operational targets.  The framework is also used to help ensure complianc...
	3.12 The framework establishes performance management meetings between Cabinet Portfolio holders, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers.  These meetings are intended to focus attention on the achievement of objectives through action plan...
	3.13 The framework enables performance to be measured periodically against the suite of performance measures introduced by the Corporate Plan and other operational performance indicators.  This identifies areas of good performance as well as enabling ...
	3.14 The council has sound performance reporting procedures for Members.  The Cabinet receive quarterly performance reports across the full suite of performance framework.  In addition, each of the Cabinet Committees receives regular reports on progre...
	Risk
	3.15 The Council has a Risk Management Strategy which continues to be reviewed and updated each year (as required) to reflect any future changes in the councils risk management arrangements.  The strategy was most recently reviewed during 2017-18 and ...
	3.16 In preparing the council’s Corporate Risk Register a thorough review of the risks already identified by the council is undertaken by senior officers of the council with consideration given to the identification of potential new risks.  Progress m...
	3.17 The Finance & Audit Committee are responsible for monitoring the effective development and operation of these risk management arrangements. This responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management arrangements through closer monitoring ...
	Finance
	3.18 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a council to ensure that one of their officers has responsibility for the proper administration of its financial affairs.  During 2017-18, this responsibility was held by the Director (Corpora...
	3.19 The council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government as set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.
	3.20 The council has in place a 10-year Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which sets out the forecasted budget for the council over the period.  This is supported by the Medium Term Financial Strategy which outlines how the council wants to structure ...
	3.21 A mid-year review of the council’s Treasury Management arrangements was undertaken and presented to the Finance & Audit Committee at its meeting in November 2017 which resulted in the committee recommending to Council that the revised estimates a...
	3.22 In addition, the Finance & Audit Committee recommended to Full Council the adoption of the Treasury Management Strategy for the 2018-19 financial year at its meeting in February 2018; Full Council endorsed this at its subsequent meeting.
	3.23 Regular budget monitoring took place in 2017-18 in order to manage the council’s Net Revenue Budget.  Regular meetings are held between officers and the Cabinet Portfolio Holders to discuss any specific budget issues and budget monitoring reports...
	3.24 The level of balances is reviewed annually in line with the budget setting process but is regularly reported to Finance and Audit Committee and Cabinet for position statements.
	Partnership and Joint-working
	3.25 The council is increasingly looking at alternative ways in which it can provide services, including making more effective use of the resources available to it and considering opportunities for working in partnership with public bodies and local a...
	3.26 Opportunities for shared or joint-working have been explored and implemented during the year, as they have arisen.
	3.27 During 2017-18, as in previous years, a comprehensive review of the council’s Corporate Register of Partnerships was undertaken to ensure all relevant partnerships are included.
	Internal and External Audit
	3.28 The responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee include the consideration of reports from internal audit and external audit and inspection agencies as well as monitoring the performance of internal audit.  During 2017-18, the Finance and Au...
	3.29 The council has a shared Audit and Counter Fraud service with Medway Council. The service operates to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. Complian...
	3.30 The purpose of the team is to provide independent, objective assurance and consulting services to add value and improve the council’s operations by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk ...
	3.31 The council’s internal audit arrangements conform to the governance requirements of CIPFA’s statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service Organisations.
	Counter Fraud Arrangements
	3.32 The council acknowledges the risk of fraud and has put robust arrangements in place to prevent, detect and investigate suspicions or allegations of fraud when they are received.  The Audit and Fraud update reports, presented four times each year ...

	4. Review of Effectiveness of the Governance Framework
	4.1 Gravesham Borough Council has responsibility for conducting an annual review of the effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of internal control.  The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed...
	4.2 In maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework, the review has considered the following:
	4.2.1 The corporate and business planning processes of the council;
	4.2.2 The corporate performance management framework and the corporate performance reporting processes of the council;
	4.2.3 The completion of self-assessment control questionnaires by the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other key managers within the council;
	4.2.4 The completion of control questionnaires by the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Head of Internal Audit;
	4.2.5 Reviews carried out by Internal Audit, External Audit and other review bodies which generate reports commenting on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control employed by the council;
	4.2.6 The consideration of External Audit reports and certain Internal Audit reports by the Finance & Audit Committee;
	4.2.7 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s overall control environment from the Head of Internal Audit.
	4.3 The arrangements in place are considered to be fit for purpose and in accordance with the council’s governance framework, with no significant areas requiring attention. The areas that are specifically to be addressed with new actions to further en...
	4.4 Overseen by the AGS Assurance Working Group, the findings of the annual review of the governance framework were considered by the council’s Management Team on 29 May 2018 and reported to Members of the Finance & Audit Committee on 12 June 2018.

	5 Control Issues requiring attention
	Whilst the review of the council’s governance arrangements has not identified any significant governance issues requiring attention, it highlighted a number of areas where controls can be either further developed or enhanced. These are outlined in the...
	Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee
	I confirm that the 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement has been considered and approved by Gravesham Borough Council at the meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee on 12 June 2018.
	………………………...
	Councillor Karen Hurdle
	Date…………………..
	Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive
	……………………….......         ………………………...
	Councillor David Turner         David Hughes
	Leader of the Executive         Chief Executive
	Date………………………         Date………………………



	8 Annual Treasury Management Review 2017-18
	9 Letter to Those Charged with Governance
	2. TCWG Fraud and Regs Letter - draft response

	10 Audit Fee Letter 2018-19
	GBC 18-19 fee letter


